Intraduction

CELL DEATH AND REMOVAL IN THE CEREBRAL CORTEX DURING DEVELOPMENT

I. FERRER,* E. SORIANO,† J. A. DEL RIO,† S. ALCÁNTARA* and C. AULADELL†

*Unidad de Neuropatologia, Depto. Anatomía Patológica, Hospital Principes de España, Facultad de Medicina, 08907 Hospitalet de Llobregat, Universidad de Barcelona, Spain †Unidad de Biología Celular, Facultad de Biología, Diagonal 645, 08028 Barcelona, Universidad de Barcelona, Spain

(Received 16 September 1991)

CONTENTS

1.	Introduction		
2.	Morphology of dead cells	1	
3.	Distribution of dead cells in the telencephalic mantle of the developing rat	2	
4.	Quantitative aspects of cortical cell death in the rat and comparison with cell death in the cerebral		
	cortex in other species		
5.	Cell death in the cortical subplate and future subcortical white matter	8	
	5.1. General aspects of the cortical subplate	8	
	5.2. Structural organization of the rodent subplate and future subcortical white matter	ş	
	5.3. Relationships between the subplate and intermediate zone-subventricular border and the		
	development of axonal systems	11	
	5.4. Postnatal loss of subplate and intermediate zone-subventricular border neurons	12	
6.	Cortical cell death and other progressive and regressive phenomena in the cerebral cortex	19	
	6.1. Are dead cells in the cerebral cortex really neurons?	19	
	6.2. Transitory cortical efferents	20	
	6.3. Cortical cell death and innervation of targets	20	
	6.4. Cortical afferents and cell death	20	
	6.5. Transitory expression of neurotransmitters and neuropeptides in cortical neurons (local-circuit		
	neurons) and cortical cell death	23	
	6.6. Cortical cell death is related to the total number of cortical neurons	28	
7.	Cell death in the molecular layer	29	
8.	Transitory phagocytes during normal development	29	
9.	Cell death and the formation of cerebral convolutions	30	
	9.1. Formation of normal convolutions	30	
	9.2. Formation of pathological gyri	30	
10.	Final comments	3:	
	Acknowledgements	30	
	References	30	

1. INTRODUCTION

Naturally occurring cell death is a common phenomenon during normal development of the nervous system. The majority of observations have been made in birds, reptiles and amphibians (Cowan, 1973; Oppenheim, 1981, 1985; Cowan et al., 1984; Bottjer and Sengelaub, 1989). Cell death also occurs in mammals during embryonic and postnatal life. In mammals, cell death has been observed in the spinal cord (Nurcombe et al., 1981; Banker, 1982; Lance-Jones, 1982; Baulac and Meininger, 1983; Bennett et al., 1983; Harris and McCaig, 1984; Comans et al., 1987) and retina and its connections, including the lateral geniculate nucleus, optic tectum and colliculus (Arees and Astrom, 1977; Heuman and Rabinowicz, 1980, Sengelaub and Finlay, 1982; Cunningham et al., 1982; Finlay et al., 1982; Perry et al., 1983; Dreher et al., 1984; Sengelaub et al., 1985; Penfold and Provis, 1986; Sengelaub *et al.*, 1986; Provis and Penfold, 1986; Finlay and Pallas, 1989), as well as in the parabigeminal nucleus of the rat (Linden and Piñón, 1987) and the cerebellum of the hamster (Janowsky and Finlay, 1983).

Naturally occurring cell death has also been found in the hippocampus of hamsters and rats (Janowsky and Finlay, 1983; Ferrer *et al.*, 1990b), pyriform cortex of mice (Friedman and Price, 1986) and neocortex of the hamster (Finlay and Slattery, 1983), mouse (Pearlman, 1985), cat (Ferrer *et al.*, 1989) and rat (Ferrer *et al.*, 1990a). Cell death in the cellular cortical layers during postnatal development in these studies correlates with other observations showing decreased numbers of cortical neurons in adults when compared with young animals (Heuman and Leuba, 1983; Ferrer *et al.*, 1988).

In addition, one of the most impressive structural transformations of the telencephalic mantle during

normal development comes up in the subplate zone, a transitory neuronal and nerve fiber organization located below the cortical plate which progressively disappears near birth. Most subplate neurons fade away by cell death (Kostovic and Rakic, 1980, 1990; Luskin and Shatz, 1985; Valverde and Facal-Valverde, 1987; Chun et al., 1987; Shatz et al., 1988; Chun and Shatz, 1989a; Ferrer et al., 1990a). Some cells of the subplate do survive, nevertheless, as interstitial neurons of the white matter in adults (Kostovic and Rakic, 1980; 1980; Chun and Shatz, 1989b; Valverde and Facal-Valverde, 1988).

The present study is focused on naturally occurring postnatal cell death in the cerebral neocortex, cortical subplate and future subcortical white matter, and its relation to other progressive and regressive phenomena during normal development of the cerebral cortex.

Our knowledge about the mechanisms producing cell death is still fragmentary, and the reasons for cortical cell death remain elusive. Therefore, experiments have been conducted to gain more information in this field.

Finally, it has been shown that cellular debris is removed by neighboring cells and transitory exogenous phagocytes which penetrate the nervous tissue at early stages of development. These latter cells correspond to classical nascent or ameboid microglial cells, the function of which was, until recently, barely understood.

2. MORPHOLOGY OF DEAD CELLS

Dead cells are recognized in paraffin and semithin sections by their extremely shrunken and dark nucleus, which often fragments into several small and dense droplets. The cytoplasm may be preserved, or round and eosinophilic, or almost absent, depending on the stage (Fig. 1). Degenerating cells are also stained by silver methods (de Olmos and Ingram, 1971) during normal development and under different pathological conditions.

Characteristically, cell death in the cerebral cortex and future subcortical white matter affects scattered individual cells or cells in small clusters.

The term *pyknosis* designates the condensation of the cellular components, and the term *pyknotic cells* has been used to name degenerating or dying cells in the developing nervous tissue (Finlay *et al.*, 1982; Sengelaub and Finlay, 1982; Finlay and Slattery, 1983; Sengelaub *et al.*, 1985; Finlay and Pallas, 1989). Although pyknosis does not always imply irrecoverable cellular damage and cell loss (Cammermeyer, 1972), the appearance of the nucleus of degenerating cells, including fragmentation, is hardly consistent with the preservation of life. Pyknosis is also a nonspecific term since pyknotic cells may be found in two different types of cell death, necrosis and apoptosis, the characteristics of which will be discussed in the following paragraphs.

Electron microscopic morphology of naturally occurring dead cells during development of the nervous system has been described (Cantino and Sisto, 1972; Pannese, 1976; Pilar and Landemesser, 1976; Chu-Wang and Oppenheim, 1978; Sohal and Weidman,

1978; Giordano et al., 1980; Cunningham, 1982; Warton and Jones, 1984; Trujillo et al., 1987; Marrero et al., 1987; Valverde and Facal-Valverde, 1987; Ferrer et al., 1989, 1990a). There is the general agreement that most degenerating cells display complete chromatin condensation, polysomal disaggregation and increased numbers of cytoplasmic vesicles, together with cytoplasmic shrinkage. Other cells show fragmentation of the nucleus and vacuolated cytoplasm. Finally, some cells exhibit not only mild chromatin compaction, but also striking dilatations of the rough endoplasmic reticulum, Golgi complex and nuclear envelope. The first and third types correspond, respectively, to the so-called nuclear and cytoplasmic types of cell death (Pilar and Landmesser, 1976). The third type also coincides with type 3B of others (Clarke, 1990). Nuclear cell death corresponds to cell death type I described in embryonic and fetal rats (Scweichel and Merker, 1973), shrinkage necrosis (Kerr, 1971), and primary or precocious 'picnosis' (Beaulaton and Lockshin, 1982).

Our own studies on cell death in the cerebral cortex and sub cortical white matter of developing rats and cerebral cortex of kittens have shown that the most common type of cell death is characterized by primary nuclear damage and fragmentation which is followed by cytoplasmic abnormalities. Degenerating cells show chromatin condensation, often into coarse granular aggregates, dispersion of the nucleolus and fragmentation of chromatin masses. The cytoplasm shows, at first, only mild changes, and the rough endoplasmic reticulum, Golgi complex and mitochondria are well preserved, even in cells with an extremely shrunken nucleus. Later on, the cytoplasm is condensed and eventually fragments into small bodies which are engulfed by neighboring cells or by specialized phagocytes (Fig. 2).

The term apoptosis has been introduced to name a type of cell death with the morphological characteristics just described above. This type of cell death occurs in many other tissues in normal development, normal cellular turnover, and different pathological conditions including tumors (Kerr *et al.*, 1972, 1987; Wyllie *et al.*, 1980, 1984; Wyllie, 1981, 1987; Cotter *et al.*, 1990; Clarke, 1990).

In contrast to necrosis, apoptosis is a highly selective process which affects isolated cells or cells in small clusters, is usually triggered by physiologic stimuli, and massive inflammatory infiltrates (i.e. neutrophils or lymphocytes) are always absent (Wyllie *et al.*, 1980). In other cell systems, apoptosis does not depend on the external energy supply, but involves endonuclease activation (Wyllie *et al.*, 1980, 1984; Wyllie, 1987; Kondo, 1988; McConkey *et al.*, 1990). Nuclear cell death, morphologically analogous to apoptosis in other tissues is the most common type in the cerebral cortex and future subcortical white matter during normal development.

3. DISTRIBUTION OF DEAD CELLS IN THE TELENCEPHALIC MANTLE OF THE DEVELOPING RAT

As previously mentioned, cell death in the telencephalic mantle during normal development occurs in



FIG. 1. Dead cells in the developing cerebral cortex and subcortical white matter of the rat. These cells are characterized by their extremely dark and shrunken, sometimes fragmented nuclei. The cytoplasm is pale or eosinophilic depending on the stage of cell death. A—Retrosplenial cortex, upper cortical layers;
B—Somatosensory (SS) cortex, layers II-III; C—SS cortex, layer V; D—Occipital cortex, layers II-III;
E—SS cortex, layer VIb; F and G—Subcortical white matter. A, C, D and F: Rats aged 5 days. B, E and G: Rats aged 7 days. Paraffin sections stained with hematoxylin and eosin. Bar = 20 microns.



FIG. 2. Dead cells in the developing cortex of the rat. A—Semithin section of the subcortical white matter showing a dying cell with extremely dark and shrunken nucleus (1) a phagocyted dead cell (2) and one macrophage filled with clear cytoplasmic vacuoles (3) epon section stained with toluidine blue; B—Nuclear type of cell death in layers II–III of the cerebral cortex. The nucleus is extremely condensed but membranes and cytoplasmic organelles are preserved; C—Granular nucleur debris engulfed by a poorly-differentiated cell in the upper cortical layer; D—Fragmented nuclear debris (1–4) engulfed by a macrophage in the subcortical white matter. A and D: Rat aged 3 days. C and D: Rat 5 days old. A, bar = 20 microns. B, C and D, same magnification bar = 2 microns.

two different sites. One of them is the future subcortical white matter which is located between layer VIb and the periventricular germinal layer of the lateral ventricles. The other site is the cerebral cortex which includes the future layers I to VIb.

The distribution of dead cells in the cerebral cortex and subcortical white matter of the rat at representative postnatal ages is shown in Fig. 3.

The term 'cerebral cortex' is used here to name the cortical layers I to VIb.

Dead cells first appear, in small numbers, shortly before birth (embryonic days 21 and 22) in the subcortical white matter of the retrosplenial granular cortex and the border region between the retrosplenial cortex and subicular complex.

Dead cells increase in number in the subcortical white matter during the first week of postnatal life (postnatal days 0 to 7: P0 to P7) and decrease, thereafter, until about the end of the second week, at which time dead cells are rarely encountered in the



P O







FIG. 3 (caption overleaf)



FIG. 3. Distribution of dead cells in the cerebral cortex and subcortical white matter of the developing rat at different postnatal days: 0 (newborn), 3, 5, 7, 10, 15 (P0, ..., P15). Each dot represents one dead cell. Dead cells first appear in the subcortical white matter at P0. Later on, dead cells are found in the subcortical white matter and cerebral cortex as well. The number of dead cells increases from P0 to P7 and decreases thereafter. Cell death is almost absent in the rat aged 30 days (not shown). At every age, cortical dead cells predominate in the upper cortical layers (layers II–III) and in layer VIb. Whatever the cortical region, the number of dead cells is greater in the medial than in the lateral part of the cerebral hemisphere. At every age, the number of dead cells is greater in the parietal than in the frontal and occipital lobes. Camera lucida drawings of paraffin-embedded, hematoxylin and eosin-stained sections. Bar = 1 mm.

white matter. Dead cells in the future subcortical white matter of the postnatal rat predominate in the region underlying the cingulate and retrosplenial granular cortices, medially, and the white matter of the frontal (FR) region and parietal region 1 (Par 1) of the somatosensory cortex, laterally. Dead cells are lower in number, at every age, in the subcortical white matter of the lateral part of the somatosensory cortex (parietal 2: Par 2), occipital cortex and temporal region.

In the cerebral cortex, dead cells are seldom found at birth, but augment from P3 onwards to reach peak values at the end of the first week. Dead cells lessen during the second week and are no longer observed at the end of the first month. The majority of dead cells, at every age, are found in the upper cellular layers (layers II–III), which are recognized as separate layers at about P7–P8. This predominance is particularly marked at the end of the first week. Cell death also occurs in layers V and VIa, but is more common, mainly in relation to the total number of regional neurons, in layer VIb.

A few dead cells are also seen in the molecular layer during the first week of postnatal life.

Regional differences in the amount of dead cells also exist throughout development. Cell death predominates in the posterior cingulate cortex (Cg 2 and caudal part of Cg 1 regions), together with retrosplenial granular and agranular (RSA and RSG) cortices. It is followed by Par 1 and Par 2 of the somatosensory cortex, and the forelimb and hindlimb (FL and HL) regions of the motor cortex. Cell death is less frequent in the occipital (either in the Oc 1 or Oc 2 subdivision), frontal and temporal cortices.

In general terms, cell death in the neocortex follows a rough ascending gradient from the subcortical white matter to the upper cortical layers during the first week of postnatal life. Later on, from P10 onwards, dead cells are more disperse. This mimics the ascending (inside-out) gradient of neuroblast migration in the cerebral cortex of rodents (Angevine and Sidman, 1961; Berry and Rogers, 1965; Hicks and D'Amato, 1968; Smart and Smart, 1982).

4. QUANTITATIVE ASPECTS OF CORTICAL CELL DEATH IN THE RAT AND COMPARISON WITH CELL DEATH IN THE CEREBRAL CORTEX IN OTHER SPECIES

The magnitude of cortical cell death during normal development in the rat is illustrated in Tables 1 and 2. In these tables, the amount of cell death in the somatosensory and medial neighboring cortical areas, and the primary visual cortex (Oc 1 M) is expressed as the proportion of cortical dead cells per

1000 live neurons. Methods for the quantification of neurons and correcting factors used have been described in detail elsewhere (Ferrer *et al.*, 1990a). These data together with those provided in Fig. 3 permit us to draw some conclusions.

- Cell death is rather synchronous in the different cortical regions, and temporal gradients of cell death along the rostrocaudal and lateromedial axes are not seen in rats.
- (2) Regional differences exist, nevertheless, in the amount of cell death. Thus, the proportion of dead cells in the medial part (Par 1) of the somatosensory cortex at P7 is 2.38 ± 0.37 dead cells per 1000 live neurons, whereas in the medial part of the primary visual cortex (Oc 1 M) the proportion of dead cells is 1.29 ± 0.48 at the same age.
- (3) At every rostro-caudal level, cell death is more prominent in the medial than in the lateral parts of the cerebral cortex. As a paradigm, the greatest values of cell death are encountered in the retrosplenial cortex with 4.82 ± 1.10 and 3.91 ± 1.21 dead cells per 1000 live neurons at P5 and P7 respectively.

Cell death rates are slightly variable in mice and hamsters. Peak values of 4 dead cells per 1000 live neurons are found at P6, and values rapidly decrease at day 10 in the visual cortex of the mouse (Pearlman, 1985).

In the occipital cortex of the hamster, peak values at day 7 vary from less than 8 per 1000 live neurons in areas 17 and 18 b to 30 per 1000 in area 29 b (Finlay and Slattery, 1983). In contrast to the hamster, values of cortical cell death and differences in the amount of cell death among the subdivisions of the occipital cortex are almost negligible in the Wistar rat. For example, the following values were found in the occipital subdivisions of rats: Oc 2 M: 1.37 ± 0.38 ; Oc 2 L: 1.05 ± 0.27 ; Oc 1 M: 1.29 ± 0.48 ; Oc 1 L: 1.06 ± 0.19 dead cells per 1000 live neurons at P7 (mean values \pm SD of 16 tissue sections from 8 animals).

TABLE 1

Days	Control	Enucleated
2	0.38 ± 0.11	0.29 ± 0.09
5	0.77 ± 0.41	0.89 ± 0.33
7	1.29 ± 0.48	1.27 ± 0.37
10	0.94 ± 0.29	1.08 ± 0.31
15	0.81 ± 0.36	0.92 ± 0.38
21	0.10 ± 0.28	0.25 ± 0.19

Number of dead cells (mean values \pm SD) per 1000 live neurons in the primary visual cortex (Oc 1 M) of normal rats and rats bilaterally enucleated at birth, at different postnatal ages. Each value at every age corresponds to the examination of 9 or 10 animals (2 tissue sections per rat). Methods for the quantification of dead cells, neurons and correcting factors used are similar to those reported elsewhere (Ferrer *et al.*, 1990a). The nomenclature of cortical areas throughout the text follows Zilles (Zilles, 1985).

No differences are seen in the proportion of dead cells in both groups of rats. This suggests that elimination of main visual afferents at birth has no effect on naturally occurring cell death in the primary visual cortex.

TABLE 2 100 cGy/E18 Control Dead Dead Days Neurons cells Neurons cells 0.54 2 11490 ± 1280 0.25 9610 ± 1430* 5 7 10560 + 14938128 ± 1266* 1.01 1.11 0.97** 9438 ± 1017 2.38 7155 ± 958* 10 7380 ± 987 0.70** 1.89 6023 ± 1038* 15 5684 ± 735 0.55 4445 ± 820* 0.22 3288 ± 530* 4815 ± 646 21 0.200.11 mean accumulative cell death across 3.55*** time 6.38

Number of neurons per section (mean values \pm SD) and number of cortical dead cells (mean values) per 1000 live neurons in the cerebral cortex in control and X-irradiated (100 cGy) rats at embryonic day 18 (E18), examined at different postnatal ages. The quantitative study is focused on the cortical region between the callosal and rhinal fissures which included parietal regions 1 and 2 (Par 1 and Par 2) of the somatosensory cortex, and the fields HL (motor cortex, hindlimb), frontal regions FRI and FR2, and retrosplenial agranular and granular (RSA and RSG) cortices (see Zilles, 1985, for nomenclature of cortical areas).

Significant reductions in the number of cortical neurons were seen at every age in irradiated animals when compared to age-matched controls (Student's t test, p < 0.05). The proportion of dead cells per 1000 live neurons was significally decreased in irradiated animals aged 7 and 10 days (**) (Student's t test, p < 0.05), As a result, the cumulative cell death across time was significantly decreased in the irradiated group (***) (Mann-Whitney U test, 2-tailed p < 0.05).

Whether these variations are related to species differences or are due to albinism is still not known.

In other animals, cortical cell death occurs shortly before birth. In insectivorous bats of the species Myotis myotis, massive cell death in the future subcortical white matter and cerebral cortex occurs in the preterm animal (Fig. 4); cortical cell death is almost absent in the newborn bat. It is noteworthy that the cerebral cortex is well developed at birth in these animals (Ferrer, 1989), and naturally occurring cell death at the preterm period could be an expression of the precocious cortical maturation in this species. Cortical cell death during normal development is a more complex and less understood phenomenon in gyrencephalic species. In the gyrus suprasylvius and adjoining sulci in the cat, mean values of cell death in animals aged 15 and 25 days vary from 5-10 per 1000 live neurons in the sulcal region to 2-4 per 1000 in the crown of the gyrus (Ferrer et al., 1989). In addition, the amount of cell death progresses from the already formed suprasylvian sulcus to the formative sulcus lateralis (Ferrer et al., 1988, 1989). Therefore, naturally occurring cell death in the cat proceeds following spatial or regional (i.e. more dead cells in sulcal regions than in gyri), and temporal (i.e. dead cells first appear in already formed sulci, and later in formative sulci) gradients. Based on the different percentages of cell death in the occipital cortical areas of the hamster, it has been suggested that the amount of cell loss is inversely related to numbers of neurons in adults in corresponding areas (Finlay and Slattery, 1983). Similar observations can be made in the cingular cortex of the rat and in the sulcal regions of

the cat, in which the number of neurons in adults is smaller than in the frontal and gyral zones, respectively. However, it must be stressed that cell death is not a major determining factor in the early formation of sulci in the cat (Ferrer *et al.*, 1989), nor in the gyrus cinguli in the rat (Ferrer *et al.*, 1990a), since these folds are already formed before dead cells appear in the cerebral cortex.

5. CELL DEATH IN THE CORTICAL SUBPLATE AND FUTURE SUBCORTICAL WHITE MATTER

5.1. GENERAL ASPECTS OF THE CORTICAL SUBPLATE

As mentioned in previous sections, the cortical subplate contains fibers and neurons. Cortical afferents include thalamocortical and monoaminergic systems which wait for a certain period of time in this embryonic region before entering into the cortical plate (Molliver and van der Loos, 1970; Rakic, 1977; Lidov and Molliver, 1978; Kostovic and Rakic, 1980, 1990; Kordower and Rakic, 1986); thus the subplate can be considered a waiting compartment for afferent systems.

The second component of the subplate is formed by a diversified population of transitory neurons, collectively known as the subplate neurons, which are cogenerated with neurons of the marginal layer and are therefore some of the first postmitotic neurons of the telencephalic mantle (Marin-Padilla, 1970, 1971, 1978; Kostovic and Rakic, 1980, 1990; Luskin and Shatz, 1985; Chun et al., 1987; Valverde and Facal-Valverde, 1987, 1988; Shatz et al., 1988; Chun and Shatz, 1988a, 1988b, 1989a, 1989b; Huntley et al., 1988; Friauf et al., 1989; Antonini and Shatz, 1990). These neurons exhibit mature morphological features including well developed dendrites and synapses, cytoskeletal and calcium-binding proteins, neurotransmitters and neuropeptides, together with the capacity to evoke synaptic potentials and establish long axonal connections. During the 'waiting period' of thalamic afferents, subplate cells act as transient postsynaptic targets for these fibers (see Kostovic and Rakic, 1980, 1990). Recent studies have shown that the experimental ablation of subplate cells prevents the entry of thalamic fibers into the depleted region, thus suggesting that these cells guide thalamocortical fibers into the cortical plate (Friauf et al., 1990; Ghosh et al., 1990).

In addition, subplate cells also pioneer long projections to the thalamus and superior colliculus, as well as to the cortical plate (McConnell *et al.*, 1989; Antonini and Shatz, 1990). Efferent connections are probably mediated by neurotrophic interactions (Allendoerfer *et al.*, 1989). Later on, most subplate cells die, although some of them survive as interstitial neurons of the white matter.

Our knowledge of the composition and fate of subplate cells in the rodent brain has increased in recent years (Valverde *et al.*, 1989; Bayer and Altman, 1990; Cobas *et al.*, 1991), but is still fragmentary. For example, cell death in the cortical subplate of rodents is still controversial (Valverde *et al.*, 1989; Ferrer *et al.*, 1990a). We do not know whether transient expression of neurotransmitters in subplate cells even-

tually fades by cell death, as happens in kittens and monkeys.

Furthermore, studies of cortical development 'in vitro' using organotypic slice cultures have not provided clear results. Whereas Bolz et al. (1990) suggested that subplate cells are not required for the settlement of corticothalamic and corticocortical connections, Blakemore and Molnar (1991) have suggested that the formation of similar connections at very early stages of development involves subplate cells.

For this reason we will examine the cellular and fibrillar composition of the cortical subplate, and intermediate zone-subventricular border (future subcortical white matter) in the brains of mice (and rats) before describing naturally occurring cell death in these regions.

5.2. STRUCTURAL ORGANIZATION OF THE RODENT SUBPLATE AND FUTURE SUBCORTICAL WHITE MATTER

The cortical subplate in the mouse first appears at embryonic day 13 (E13), as a thin band of cells located just below the emerging cortical plate (Fig. 5A). Together with the marginal zone, the subplate derives from the primitive plexiform layer which surrounds the germinal ventricular zone at earlier embryonic stages. As the cortical plate grows by the addition of newly-generated postmitotic neurons, the subplate becomes a clearly individualized layer (Figs 5C and D), located above the intermediate and subventricular zones and the germinal ventricular zone.

Infragranular layers VIa and V first appear at E17, whereas layers IV to II appear a few days after birth. During the early postnatal period the subplate probably reorganizes to form the sublayer VIb, which is separated from layer VIa by a thin sparsely cellular band (Fig. 5E).

These observations agree with previous reports (Boulder Committee, 1970; Rickman *et al.*, 1977; Crandall and Caviness, 1984a and b; Valverde *et al.*, 1989; Bayer and Altman, 1991), and underline the fact that layer VIb is a particular cortical structure in rodents.

The neuronal composition of the subplate in the mouse (NMRI strain) was investigated by immunocytochemistry with antibodies against a variety of neuronal markers including microtubuleassociated protein-2 (MAP2, Sternberger Meyer, used at a dilution 1:3000); neurotransmitters: gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA, Immunotech, 1:2500) and glutamate (kindly supplied by Dr C. Matutes; also used in the brain of the rat); neuropeptides: neuropeptide Y (NPY, CRB, 1:2000), somatostatin (SRIF, Dakopats, 1:800), substance P (SP, Seralab, 1:1000) and cholecystokinin (CCK, Immunonuclear, 1:1500); and the calcium-binding protein calbindin (CaBP, kindly given by Dr M. R. Celio). Some results of the study have been reported elsewhere (Del Rio et al., 1991a and b).

During the entire prenatal period examined (from E13 to E19), strong-labelled MAP2-immunoreactive cells heavily populated the subplate, and, more sparsely, the marginal (molecular) layer (Figs 5B, 6A). Large numbers of faintly-stained cells were



FIG. 4. Cell death in the cerebral cortex and subcortical white matter in the preterm bat *Myotis myotis*. A—General view of the cerebral cortex showing the molecular (MOL) and layer VI (VI); B—Dead cells in the subcortical white matter of the gyrus cinguli; C—Dead cells in the inner layers of the cerebral cortex. A: Hematoxylin and eosin; bar = 50 microns. B and C: Silver method; same magnification, bar = 20 microns.



FIG. 5. Cytoarchitectonic layers of the telencephalic mantle of the mouse during development. A—Embryonic day 13 (E13); C—E14; D—E17; and E—Postnatal day 16 in Nissl preparations. B—Immunocytochemistry with antibodies against MAP2 at E13 of a brain region similar to that seen in B. MZ: marginal zone; CP: cortical plate; SP: cortical subplate; IZ: intermediate zone; VZ: ventricular zone. I–VIb: cortical layers I to VIb; WM: white matter. Note the marked development of the cortical subplate at embryonic day 17. A, B and C, bar = 50 microns; D and E, bar = 100 microns.

found in the lower region of the intermediate zone (intermediate zone-subventricular border population), and in the ventricular zone (Figs 6A, 7E). A few cells were also seen in the cortical plate and intermediate zone.

In the cortical subplate and intermediate zone, MAP2-ir neurons were large multipolar, bipolar or polymorphic cells, the dendrites of those located in the subplate zone being arranged tangentially or penetrating into the intermediate zone (Fig. 7A).

In contrast, MAP2-ir cells in the intermediate zone-subventricular border were smaller in size and displayed horizontally-oriented dendrites (Fig. 7E).

From E13 onwards in the mouse, GABAergic cells were found in the subplate, intermediate zone and intermediate zone-subventricular border (Figs 6B, 7B, 7C). A similar distribution of glutamatergic cells was observed in the cerebral cortex of the rat from E15 to E20 (Figs 6C, 7C, 7D). With both antibodies, neurons in the marginal zone were intensely labelled, whereas only a few cells were immunoreactive in the cortical plate. The morphology of GABA-ir and glutamate-positive neurons was similar to that observed with antibodies against MAP2. These populations of neurons became more conspicuous during the last days of the gestational period.

Subplate cells were also labelled with antibodies against calbindin during the prenatal period from E14 to E18 (Fig. 6E), although CaBP immunoreactivity decreased at the end of gestation, and reappeared in the cerebral cortex during postnatal development. Neurons in the ventricular zone were not labelled with this antibody. No positive staining for parvalbumin, another Ca^{2+} binding protein (Celio, 1990), was observed during the fetal period studied.

Subplate neurons were also the first neurons to be labelled with antibodies against NPY, CCK and SRIF from E17 onwards (Fig. 6D). Neuropeptideimmunoreactive cells in the subplate were particularly abundant during the perinatal period. In contrast with these observations, substance P-like positive cells have been found in the mouse cortical subplate only during the early postnatal period (Del Rio *et al.*, 1991a).

Our observations on the immunostaining characteristics of subplate cells agree with, and extend, previous studies in rodents regarding GABA (Chronwall and Wolff, 1980; Lauder *et al.*, 1986; van Eden *et al.*, 1989; Cobas *et al.*, 1991), MAP2 (Crandall *et al.*, 1986; Cobas *et al.*, 1991), calbindin (Enderlin *et al.*, 1987), and neuropeptides (McDonald *et al.*, 1982; Brené *et al.*, 1990; Hajós *et al.*, 1990).

Taken together these results demonstrate that subplate neurons in the rodent brain appear early during the prenatal period and exhibit a high degree of morphological maturity as shown by their developed dendritic arbors. Furthermore, subplate neurons constitute a very diversified and rich population as revealed by the different immunoreactive expressions for several neurotransmitters, neuropeptides and calbindin.

Although colocalization studies are needed to elucidate the degree of overlapping of the different immunocytochemically-labelled neuronal populations, it is feasible that, in addition to excitatory glutamatergic cells, inhibitory GABAergic neurons can be categorized into different subsets according to their different neuropeptide or CaBP contents, as happens in the cerebral cortex of adults (Jones and Hendry, 1986).

It is worth stressing that, in addition to subplate neurons, another neuronal population appears very early during the prenatal period in the rodent brain. These neurons (Fig. 7E) are located in the intermediate zone-subventricular border and are smaller than subplate neurons. These cells react with antibodies against MAP2, GABA and glutamate, and, as we will describe later, they are not related to thalamic axons (Figs 7E, F).

5.3. RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN THE SUBPLATE AND INTERMEDIATE ZONE-SUBVENTRICULAR BORDER AND THE DEVELOPMENT OF AXONAL SYSTEMS

One of the most typical features of the subplate in kittens and primates is the close relationship between subplate neurons and different afferent systems, particularly thalamocortical axons. This fact provides the morphological basis for the general agreement that subplate neurons may act as temporary recipients for these axonal systems.

To reinvestigate this possibility in the rodent brain small crystals of the lipophyllic dye DII (Molecular Probes) were placed into the dorsal thalamus at different prenatal ages. From E14 (where the first fibers are seen in the cortex) to E16, bundles of thalamic axons penetrated laterally into the telencephalic mantle through the internal capsule and populated exclusively the subplate. Thalamocortical fibers which went across the intermediate zone to the subplate progressed tangentially to the surface towards the cingulate region (Fig. 8A).

Axonal growth cones were easily seen in this system. The spatial links between thalamic fibers and subplate neurons were further illustrated by combined MAP2 immunocytochemistry and DII tracing (Figs 9C, D; 10D). From E17 onwards, thalamocortical axons started the invasion of the deep regions of the cortical plate, at the time when the intermediate zone began to be permeated by bundles of thalamic fibers (Fig. 8B). Massive trespass of thalamic fibers into the cerebral cortex occurred during the first week of postnatal life.

To investigate the course of corticothalamic fibers during the prenatal period, small crystals of DII were placed in the telencephalic mantle. Corticothalamic fibers were observed throughout the subplate following a similar course described for thalamocortical fibers (Fig. 9A).

In addition, GABAergic fibers from the striatal primordium and internal capsule penetrated into the cortical subplate from E14 onwards (Figs 8C, D). Corticofugal fibers were also immunolabelled with antibodies against glutamic acid (Fig. 8E), and although no definite conclusions can be drawn until double-labelling tracer studies are made, these findings suggest that thalamocortical, and corticothalamic fibers may contain GABA and glutamate from very early stages of development.

Subplate neurons, intermingled with fluorescent fibers, were consistently labelled after crystals were placed in the thalamus (Fig. 9E). A fluorescent band of subplate neurons was also observed 2-3 mm away from the zone where DII was placed in the cerebral cortex (Fig. 9B). These findings indicate that subplate neurons send axons to the thalamus and to the cortical plate from E15 onwards.

The morphology of labelled cells was similar to that observed in immunocytochemical studies.

In both sets of experiments, scattered fluorescent neurons were also seen in the cortical plate and occasionally in the intermediate zone (Fig. 9B), but not in the intermediate zone-subventricular border.

In addition to the corticothalamic fiber system described above, a second system of efferent cortical fibers was observed from E18 onwards after the injection of DII in the cerebral cortex (Fig. 9A). This second system passed vertically across the intermediate zone and followed a periventricular course in close apposition with the intermediate zonesubventricular border (Figs 9A, 10A, B). From E18 to birth, fluorescent callosal axons stopped in the interhemispheric region or started to cross the contralateral hemisphere depending on the injection site in the cortex (Figs 10A, B, C). The relationships between these axons and cells is shown in Fig. 10D.

Early callosal axons were immunoreactive with antiglutamate antibodies, whereas a few GABAergic axons were seen in the corpus callosum during the prenatal period (Fig. 8E).

The present observations support recent findings in the rat cortex (Blakemore and Molnar, 1990; Catalano *et al.*, 1991), and confirm the early arrival of thalamic fibers, and the short duration of the waiting period for these fibers (only two days) in the rodent brain. These results also validate previous observations in kittens and primates regarding the close relationship between subplate neurons and thalamocortical and corticothalamic fibers.

In addition, we observed that a number of subplate neurons give rise to thalamic and intracortical projections. Similar findings have been found in the cat's cerebral cortex (McConnell *et al.*, 1989; Ghosh *et al.*, 1990; Antonini and Shatz, 1990).

Most important, the present studies with fluorescent tracers placed in different brain regions have permitted us to see that thalamic and callosal fibers in the rodent brain use different pathways during embryonic development. Thalamic fibers run along the cortical subplate, whereas callosal fibers are located in the intermediate zone-subventricular border. The exciting possibility that neurons in the intermediate zone-subventricular border may play a guiding role for callosal fibers, as subplate neurons do for thalamic axons during development, deserves further inquiry.

Finally, our immunocytochemical findings showing glutamate and GABA immunoreactivities in thalamic and callosal fibers are consistent with other studies (Lauder *et al.*, 1986; Antonini and Shatz, 1990) which suggest a role of neurotransmitters in the settlement of axonal connections.

5.4. POSTNATAL LOSS OF SUBPLATE AND INTERMEDIATE ZONE-SUBVENTRICULAR BORDER NEURONS

Immunocytochemical studies disclosed a dramatic reduction in the number of all immunolabelled neurons in the intermediate zone and intermediate zone-subventricular border between P0 and P10. Immunolabelled cells in the subplate also decreased in number during postnatal development (Figs 11 and 12).

Decreased numbers of immunostained neurons in these regions is coincidental with the presence of shrunken neuronal cell bodies, beaded and swollen dendrites and varicose cell processes (Fig. 11), which are currently interpreted as degenerating cells (Wahle and Meyer, 1987; Valverde and Facal-Valverde, 1987, 1988; Shatz *et al.*, 1988). Degenerating neurons were easily seen with all the different neuronal markers employed (MAP2, GABA, NPY, somatostatin, cholecystokinin, and calbindin), except glutamate since the strong immunoreaction of the neuropil hampered the identification of putative degenerating cells.

Shrunken neurons were found from P0 to P12, but were particularly numerous during the first week, at the time when cell death is very common in the subcortical white matter and cortical layer VIb (Figs 11 and 12).

These features suggest that the reduction in the number of the different neurotransmitter and neuropeptide immunoreactive neuronal populations in these regions is not due to shifting immunoreactive expression but, rather, to neuron degeneration and cell death.

To further uphold this notion, the following study was undertaken: pregnant mice received pulse injections of H³-thymidine (Amersham), or the purine analogue 5'-bromodeoxyuridine (5'-BrdU, Sigma, 50 mg/Kg bw) at embryonic ages 10 or 11 (E10, E11) (Del Rio and Soriano, 1989; Soriano and Del Rio, 1991), when the first postmitotic cortical neurons are produced in the mouse (Angevine and Sidman, 1961; Caviness, 1982). Animals were killed at different prenatal and postnatal ages.

Most neurons in the subplate, and in the marginal layer (future molecular layer), were labelled in animals injected with 5'-BrdU at E10 and E11, and killed at E18. Large numbers of heavily-labelled cells were also seen in the intermediate zone-subventricular border, whereas only a few labelled cells were observed in the cortical plate (Figs 13A and 14). A marked decrease in the number of labelled cells occurred during postnatal development (Fig. 13B). As seen in Fig. 14 only a few cells were labelled in the subcortical white matter, and in the molecular layer (layer I) in the mouse aged 5 days. A progressive loss of labelled cells also occurred in layer VIb where only a few such cells were found in adulthood (Fig. 14).

This reduction in the number of labelled cells could be the result of successive neuronal generation cycles and dilution of the DNA markers, although it is a remote possibility for postmitotic neurons.

In contrast, numbers of BrdU-labelled cells had pyknotic, often fragmented, nuclei through the early postnatal period (Fig. 13C). The distribution of 5'-BrdU-immunoreactive and pyknotic nuclei in the cerebral cortex of mice aged 5 days, which received 5'-BrdU pulses at E10 is shown in Fig. 14. Degenerating cells born at E10 are very common in the layer VIb and subcortical white matter. This further reinforces the idea that most neurons in these regions



FIG. 6. Patterns of immunostaining for different neuronal antigens in the developing telencephalic mantle of the mouse. A—Immunolabelling for the cytoskeletal protein MAP2 at E16. Note the staining of the subplate and intermediate zone-subventricular border. B—GABA immunoreactivity at E15 is very marked in the marginal zone, cortical subplate and intermediate zone-subventricular border. C—Glutamic immunoreactivity in the telencephalic mantle of the rat at E15. Marked immunoreactivity is found in the subplate. D—The first appearance of NPY-immunoreactive cells in the mouse occurs in the cortical subplate at E17. E—Intense calbindin immunoreactivity is found in the cortical subplate of the mouse at E16. MZ: marginal zone; CP: cortical plate; SP: cortical subplate; IZ: intermediate zone; VZ: ventricular zone. The region named 'intermediate zone- subventricular border' is located between the intermediate and ventricular zones. A, B, C and E, bar = 100 microns; D, bar = 50 microns.



FIG. 7. Photomicrographs showing the morphology of neurons in the cortical subplate (A-C), and intermediate zone-subventricular border (D-F) during development as seen with different antibodies.
A-MAP2 at E14; B-GABA at E18; and C-glutamate at birth (P0). D-glutamate at E19; E-MAP2 at E16; and F-GABA at E15. All photomicrographs are taken from the brain of mice, excepting C and D which are from rats. SP: cortical subplate; IZ: intermediate zone; VZ: ventricular zone. Note the presence of large numbers of glutamatergic fiber in the intermediate zone (D). Bar = 50 microns.



FIG. 8. A—Distribution of anterogradely-labelled thalamocortical fibers in the telencephalic mantle of the mouse at embryonic day 16 (E16) after placing a crystal of DII in the ipsilateral thalamus. Fibers are distributed in the cortical subplate. Section photoconverted with 0.2% diaminobenzydine tetrahydrochloride (DAB). B—DII-labelled thalamocortical fibers penetrating for the first time into the cortical plate at E17 (arrows). Section photoconverted with DAB. C—Coronal section of the cerebral vesicles of the mouse at E15 immunostained with antibodies against GABA. Note the presence of abundant GABAergic fibers in the cortical subplate. D—Bundles of GABAergic fibers (arrows) from the striatal primordium penetrate into the cortical subplate at the level of the pyriform cortex in the mouse at E15. E—Coronal section of the telencephalic vesicle of the rat at E19 immunostained with antibodies against glutamate. Immunoreactive fibers are found in the cortical subplate at B19 immunostained with antibodies against glutamate. Immunoreactive fibers are found in the cortical subplate; IZ: intermediate zone; PS: striatal primordium; PC: pyriform cortex; CC: corpus callosum. A, bar = 100 microns; B, bar = 50 microns; C, D and E, bar = 200 microns.



Fig. 9. A-DII-labelled fibers in the mouse at E18 after an intracortical placement of the tracer. The injection site is indicated by a curved arrow. Some fibers penetrate into the striatal primordium, whereas two bundles of fibers run, respectively, along the cortical subplate (arrowheads) and intermediate zone-subventricular border (arrow). bundle of DII fibers and the cortical subplate, and the inner bundle of fibers and the intermediate zone-subventricular border. E-DII-labelled cells (arrows) following an injection of the tracer in the ipsilateral thalamus. PS: striatal primordium; CP: cortical plate; SP: cortical subplate; VZ: ventricular zone. A, bar = 200 microns; B, bar = 25 microns. C and D, bar = 50 microns; E, bar = 25 microns. B-The same mouse with a higher magnification showing DII-labelled cells 1 mm away from the injection site (arrowheads). C and D-Pair of photomicrographs illustrating the distribution of MAP2-immunoreactive cells in a DII labelled section, after injection of the tracer in the cerebral cortex. There is a close relationship between the upper



FIG. 10. A—Interhemispheric region of the mouse at E18 showing DII-labelled fibers after the injection of the tracer in the somatosensory cortex. B—Same field viewed with an UV filter net after counterstaining with a nuclear dye to show the cytoarchitectonic landmarks. Note the periventricular arrangement of the callosal fibers. C—Detail of early callosal fibers crossing the corpus callosum for the first time at E18. The arrow points to a growth cone. D—Distribution of callosal fibers in the intermediate zone-subventricular border (a region located just above the ventricular zone) in the mouse at E19, after intracortical injection of DII and immunostaining for the visualization of MAP2. CP: cortical plate; SP: cortical subplate; IZ: intermediate zone; VZ: ventricular zone; CC: corpus callosum. A and B, bar = 100 microns; C and D, bar = 50 microns.



FIG. 11. Presumably degenerating neurons in layer VIb and developing white matter in the mouse at different postnatal ages (arrows). A-MAP2 immunostained section at postnatal day 5 (P5); B-Section stained with GABA antibodies at P5; C-NPY-immunoreactive cells at P2; D-Calbindin-immuno-reactive cells at P5. VIb: layer VIb; WM: subcortical white matter. Bar = 50 microns.

die during the first week of postnatal life. As discussed later, similar conclusions can be applied to neurons in the molecular layer on the basis of the present studies with 5'-BrdU.

In the rodent brain the intermediate and subventricular zones progressively transform into the subcortical white matter, whereas at least part of the subplate evolves into layer VIb. However, preliminary studies suggest that the ontogenesis of this layer is not as simple as could be expected. In another set of experiments geared to detect the birth dates of cortical nonpyramidal neurons, we used double-immunolabelling methods with 5'-BrdU injections at several prenatal ages which were combined with antibodies against different neuropeptides at various postnatal ages (Soriano and Del Rio, 1991).

Injection of 5'-BrdU at E14-E15, when neurons of layers IV and upper cortical layers become postmitotic (Angevine and Sidman, 1961; Caviness, 1982), resulted in the consistent labelling of cells in layer VIb and white matter in young adults. Double-labelling studies revealed that some 5'-BrdU positive cells were actually neurons. This is shown in Fig. 15 which illustrates the distribution of 5'-BrdU-positive NPY-immunoreactive neurons in a mouse which received a 5'-BrdU pulse at E15 and was killed at P45.

Double-labelled neurons were observed in different cortical layers including layer VIb, and in the white matter. These findings demonstrate that, although the large number of neurons in layer VIb is generated at



GABA

FIG. 12. Camera lucida drawings illustrating the distribution of presumably degenerating neurons at postnatal day 5 (P5) in the mouse. A—Distribution of degenerating GABAergic cells in one vibratome section 50 micron thick. B-Distribution of degenerating NPY-immunoreactive cells in 2 sections 50 micron thick. Degenerating neurons predominate in layer VIb and subcortical white matter. VIb: layer VIb; WM: white matter. Bar = 0.4 mm. very early embryonic ages, there is also a continuous recruitment of neurons to this layer through the prenatal period.

Our results, in summary, suggest that in the rodent brain two different subcortical transitory structures can be identified.

One of them is the cortical subplate which is composed of different neuronal types which probably serve as transitory targets for thalamic projections. These neurons also send corticocortical and corticothalamic axons. Compared with subplate neurons in kittens and primates, subplate cells in rodents have similar morphology and establish similar connections. Likewise subplate neurons in cats and monkeys and most subplate cells in rodents die shortly after birth; however, remaining neurons in rodents probably evolve into layer VIb.

Some neurons in the subplate are, however, generated at later embryonic ages. These findings support the diffuse mode of deposition proposed for certain types of interneurons in the rat's cerebral cortex (Cavanagh and Parnavelas, 1988, 1989). The second early subcortical transitory structure is found in the intermediate zone-subventricular border, which is composed of neurons which are smaller in size. Since early callosal fibers run along this zone, it may be postulated that this second group of neurons guides callosal fibers to the contralateral hemisphere. Most neurons in this zone degenerate and die during the first week of postnatal life, and this transitory region transforms into subcortical white matter.

6. CORTICAL CELL DEATH AND OTHER PROGRESSIVE AND REGRESSIVE PHENOMENA IN THE CEREBRAL CORTEX

The mechanisms that trigger cell death in the cerebral cortex during normal development are not well understood. In other regions of the nervous system, naturally occurring cell death has been found to compensate variations in neuron-target ratios, and target-dependent and afferent dependent cell death have been separately found in different neuronal populations (Oppenheim, 1981, 1985, 1989, 1991; Purves, 1988). For naturally occurring cell death in the cerebral cortex the following sections will be discussed:

- -elimination of exuberant cortical efferents;
- -cortical cell death and innervation of targets;
- -cortical afferents and cell death;
- -local-circuit neurons and cortical cell death;
- -regulation of cortical cell numbers.

6.1. Are Dead Cells in the Cerebral Cortex Really Neurons?

In contrast to transitory cells in the cortical subplate and subcortical white matter which are neurons (Luskin and Shatz, 1985; Chun *et al.*, 1987; Valverde and Facal-Valverde, 1987, 1988; Wahle and Meyer, 1987; Shatz *et al.*, 1988; Chun and Shatz, 1989a; Kostovic and Rakic, 1990; present results), the nature of dying cells in the cerebral cortex has not been rightly assessed. This is because most studies have been focused on the presence of pyknotic cells, and this method does not permit a distinction between glial cells and neurons among dead cells.

It is worth noting that cortical cell death is coincidental with the major development of glial cells in the cerebral cortex, and glial cells can also die during development (Knapp *et al.*, 1986).

At present, the assumption that most dying cells in the cerebral cortex are really neurons is inferred from the observation that the total number of cortical neurons is reduced during the time in which naturally occurring cell death is found.

In the cerebral cortex of the mouse a decrease of about 25% in the number of layer VI neurons during the first ten days of postnatal life has been observed (Heumann and Rabinowiz, 1980; Heumann and Leuba, 1983). In the gyrus suprasylvius and adjoining sulci of the cat there is a decrease in the number of neurons of about 15% from day 15 to day 25, and a cumulative loss of about 20% in the cat aged six months (Ferrer *et al.*, 1988).

6.2. TRANSITORY CORTICAL EFFERENTS

Exuberant cortical efferents have been found in the corticospinal, corticotectal, corticocerebellar and corticocortical ipsilateral and callosal pathways, as well as in intracortical circuits during normal development in different species (Innocenti *et al.*, 1977; Wise *et al.*, 1977; Distel and Hollander, 1980; Innocenti and Caminiti, 1980; Innocenti, 1981; Chow *et al.*, 1981; Reh and Kalil, 1982; Feng and Brugge, 1983; Innocenti and Clarke, 1984; Panneton and Tolbert, 1984; Tolbert and Panneton, 1984; Luhmann *et al.*, 1986; O'Leary and Stanfield, 1986; Pittman and Tolbert, 1988; Killackey *et al.*, 1989).

In the cerebral cortex of rats, corticospinal fibers are more extensively distributed during development than in the adult (Stanfield *et al.*, 1982; Bates and Killackey, 1984; Schreyer and Jones, 1988a and b). Neurons in the visual cortex transitorily project to the spinal cord during the first week of postnatal life, but these projections are restricted to middle levels of the pons during the second and third weeks (Adams *et al.*, 1983; Stanfield *et al.*, 1982; Stanfield and O'Leary, 1985; O'Leary and Stanfield, 1985; O'Leary and Terashima, 1988).

Corticotectal projections extend from the visual cortex to the ipsilateral optical layer, intermediate layers, and inner and deep gray layers of the superior colliculus during postnatal days 5 to 14 in the rat; the adult pattern, with projections restricted to the upper layers, is found at the end of the third week (Thong and Dreher, 1986, 1987). Transitory fibers from the motor cortex to the intermediate layer of the ipsilateral colliculus are also eliminated at the end of the second week (Thong and Dreher, 1987).

Callosal projections in rats are mainly produced during the first week of postnatal life; most exuberant connections are, however, eliminated at the end of the second week (Ivy *et al.*, 1979; Ivy and Killackey, 1981; Olavarria and van Sluyters, 1984, 1985).

Studies based on the injection of anterograde and retrograde tracers have demonstrated that elimination of transitory cortical projections is due to the reduction of axonic collaterals and not to the elimination of nerve cells (Ivy and Killackey, 1981; O'Leary *et al.*, 1981; Innocenti *et al.*, 1986; Pittman and Tolbert, 1988; Chalupa and Killackey 1989; LaMantia and Rakic, 1990).

It must be also stressed that cortical cell death in the rat mainly occurs during the first week of postnatal life, and therefore, elimination of transitory fibers is not coincidental in time with the occurrence of cortical cell death. This feature further supports the concept that elimination of exuberant projections is not the result of neuron loss.

6.3. CORTICAL CELL DEATH AND INNERVATION OF TARGETS

Target-dependent cell death during development is well known in some cell populations (Oppenheim, 1981, 1991).

A classical example is motorneuron cell death during innervation of muscle fibers, and the modification in the number of spinal motorneurons after experimental hazards of the limb muscles (Hamburger and Levi-Montalcini, 1949; Cowan, 1973; Oppenheim, 1981, 1991; Hamburger and Oppenheim, 1982; Lamb, 1982; Clarke, 1985; Betz, 1987). In this system, elimination of targets produces marked neuron loss of innervating cells, whereas increasing the availability of targets, naturally occurring cell death is reduced.

Since dead cells in the cerebral cortex appear while exuberant cortical projections permeate large regions of the brain, the extent to which cortical cell death is dependent on the innervation of specific targets has been investigated. Elegant studies carried out in hamsters have shown, however, that the number of dead cells in the cerebral cortex is not significantly increased after destruction of the targets of specific neurons. For example, preserved neuron density and normal cell death rates are found in the visual cortex after early tectal ablation (Pallas *et al.*, 1988). Similarly, the number of neurons in different cortical regions is not modified after sectioning the corpus callosum in neonatal hamsters (Windrem *et al.*, 1988).

Likewise, the number of layer V pyramidal neurons is not altered following early pyramidal tract sections (Ramirez and Kalil, 1985).

These results suggest that elimination of one of the many targets (including the 'main' putative targets) has no effect on the survival of cortical neurons. Nerve cells can continue living because alternative contacts are established through axonic collaterals.

6.4. CORTICAL AFFERENTS AND CELL DEATH

Reduction of afferent inputs to neurons shortly before or during the period of cell death results in a significant increase in the number of dead cells in some neuronal populations (Oppenheim, 1991).

Ablation of the visual cortex during development produces marked elimination of nerve cells in the lateral geniculate nucleus (Raabe *et al.*, 1986), whereas hemispherectomy causes loss of neurons in the extraocular motor nuclei (Gonzalo and Torremadé, 1988).



FIG. 13. A—Photomicrograph showing the distribution of 5'-BrdU-immunolabelled cells in the cerebral cortex of the mouse at embryonic day 18 (E18), following a BrdU pulse at E10. Most labelled cells are found in the cortical subplate and intermediate zone-subventricular border. B—5'-BrdU positive cells in the cerebral cortex of the mouse at postnatal day 5 (P5), following a pulse of BrdU at E10. Only a few cells are labelled when compared with E18. C—Cingulate cortex of a mouse at P5 showing a normal BrdU-labelled cell (arrowhead), and a pyknotic BrdU-labelled nucleus (arrow). A and B, bar = 100 microns; C, bar = 25 microns.

These data suggest that the integrity of the lateral geniculate nucleus and extraocular motor nuclei depends on the integrity of the cortical afferent projections to these nuclei. Conversely, increased cortical cell death after reductions of afferent inputs to the cerebral cortex would suggest that cell death in the cerebral cortex is afferent dependent.

In rats, cell death in the upper cortical layers is coincidental with the arrival and settlement of thalamocortical and corticocortical connections (Wise and Jones, 1976, 1978; Lund and Mustari, 1977; Killackey



FIG. 14. Camera lucida drawings illustrating the distribution of BrdU-labelled cells (dots) at embryonic day 18 (E18) (upper), postnatal day 5 (P5) (middle), and postnatal day 30 (P30) (lower), following pulses of 5'-BrdU at E10. The number of labelled cells decreases during postnatal development in layer VIb and subcortical white matter. BrdU positive cells in the marginal zone (molecular layer) at E18 decrease in number at P5 and are no longer present at P30. Each dot represents one labelled cell. Asterisks in P5 (middle) are BrdU pyknotic cells. MZ: marginal zone; CP: cortical plate; SP: subcortical plate; IZ-SB: intermediate zone-subventricular border; MOL: molecular layer; VIb: layer VIb; WM: white matter. A, bar = 0.2 mm.; B and C, bar = 0.4 mm.

and Belford, 1979). Notwithstanding, the effects on cortical cell death after destruction of cortical afferents are confounding.

The section of the corpus callosum has no effect on the total number of dead cells (Windrem *et al.*, 1988), but early thalamic lesions produce a marked increase in the number of dead cells in the cerebral cortex (Windrem and Finlay, 1985; Windrem *et al.*, 1986).

We have examined the rate of naturally occurring cell death in the primary visual area (Oc 1 M) in rats bilaterally enucleated at birth. As seen in Table 1, we did not find significant differences in the amount of cell death between normal and enucleated animals at birth when examined at different postnatal ages.

These findings suggest that cortical cell death does not depend on the elimination of one of the many afferents in a given cortical area, but cell death can be increased after massive removal of afferents plus efferents.

Olfactory bulb removal at birth produces increased cell death in the deep part of layer IIb and in layer III of the pyriform cortex (Friedman and Price, 1986), but not in layer IIa, which is the only one that receives olfactory projections but does not send fibers to the olfactory bulb. As stated by the same investigators (Friedman and Price, 1986), 'since most of the dying cells are located in the deeper layers of the olfactory cortex, any alteration due to olfactory bulb removal', before day 15 of postnatal life, 'may be due to retrograde as well as transneuronal effects'.

More delicate strategies are probably needed to elucidate possible relationships between cortical cell death and afferent projections. The developing cerebral cortex has enormous plastic capacities, and reduction of one of the many afferents can be rapidly replaced by other fibers (Lund *et al.*, 1973; Innocenti and Frost, 1979, 1980; Innocenti, 1981; Lund *et al.*, 1984; Innocenti *et al.*, 1985, 1986; Olavarria and van Sluyters, 1984; Olavarria *et al.*, 1988). Alternative cortical afferents produced at very appropriate stages of development may protect cortical nerve cells from dying.

6.5. TRANSITORY EXPRESSION OF NEUROTRANSMITTERS AND NEUROPEPTIDES IN CORTICAL NEURONS (LOCAL-CIRCUIT NEURONS) AND CORTICAL CELL DEATH

The prospect that cell death is confined to local-circuit neurons must be examined in detail because many studies have shown a decrease in the number of several peptidergic cells in the cerebral cortex during the late stages of development. It is known that peptidergic neurons are GABAergic nonpyramidal cells with functions of local-circuit neurons (Jones *et al.*, 1987).

For example, in the cerebral cortex of kittens, some populations containing neuropetide Y (NPY) decrease in number during the third and fourth weeks of postnatal life (Wahle and Meyer, 1987). Similarly, in rabbits and monkeys (Ramón y Cajal-Agueras *et al.*, 1986; Hayashi and Oshima, 1986), vasointestinal polypeptide-immunoreactive (VIP-ir) neurons decrease in number following peak values a few days after birth. A similar pattern occurs for substance P-(SP-) (Hayashi and Oshima, 1986; Yamashita *et al.*,



FIG. 15. Camera lucida drawing showing the distribution of BrdU-positive cells (dots), NPY-immunoreactive (-ir) cells (squares) and double-labelled BrdU-positive-NPY-ir cells (triangles) in the cerebral cortex of a mouse aged 45 days, after an injection of 5'-BrdU at embryonic day 15. One dot represents 2 cells. Many double-labelled cells are found in layer VIb and subcortical white matter. VIb: layer VIb; WM: white matter. Bar = 0.4 mm.

1990) and somatostatin- (SRIF-) (Yamashita *et al.*, 1989) immunoreactive neurons in the cerebral cortex of monkeys.

In the cerebral cortex of rats, there is a decrease in the number of SRIF- (Cavanagh and Parnavelas, 1988), VIP- (Cavanagh and Parnavelas, 1989) and SP- (McGregor *et al.*, 1982) immunoreactive neurons, and VIP-ir fibers (Hajós *et al.*, 1990) during the second and third weeks of postnatal life. In agreement with these findings, a decrease in SRIF-RNA expression during development has been reported in rats and monkeys (Sekitani *et al.*, 1990; Hayashi *et al.*, 1990).

We investigated the developmental expression of SP in the cerebral cortex of the mouse (Del Rio *et al.*, 1991a). SP-like-immunoreactive cells were abundant from P2 to P5 in layer VIb and in the subjacent future white matter. Although some cells were also present in layer V, positive cells were not found in the upper cortical layers. The number of SP-like-immunoreactive cells gradually decreased, being almost absent by P12, but from P16 onwards the adult pattern of SP-like immunoreactivity emerged with a few immunopositive cells scattered throughout the cortical layers. These results were consistent with the interpretation that transitory immunoreactive expressions in layer VIb and subcortical white matter were due to cell death.

However, the developmental pattern of most neuropeptide and neuronal protein immunoreactivities is different, and involves neurons in the upper cortical layers.

We have studied the development of calbindin-(CaBP) and SRIF-immunoreactive cells in the somatosensory cortex of rats, and compared these results with the rates of naturally occurring cell death in the same cortical region. Sections 60 microns thick of paraformaldehyde-fixed brains were obtained with a freezing microtome and processed free-floating according to the avidin and biotin (ABC, Vector Labs) method. Calbindin antibody (Sigma, clone no CL-300, Mouse IgG1) was used at 1/800-1/1000. Somatostatin antibody (raised in rabbit, Biogenex Labs) was used at a dilution 1/800.

Calbindin is a calcium-binding protein which, in the cerebral cortex, is found in many GABAergic (local-circuit) neurons (Celio, 1990). Pyramidal neurons in layers II and III are also weakly stained in the cerebral cortex of rodents (Celio, 1990). Somatostatin immunoreactivity is found in a widely distributed subpopulation of nonpyramidal cells during development (McDonald *et al.*, 1982).

CaBP-immunoreactive neurons in the cerebral cortex of the rat increase in number during the first eleven days of postnatal life. After this age, there is a decrease, which is rapid until day 15 and slower thereafer, in the number of immunoreactive cells to border on adult values at the end of the third week. This decrease is greater in layers V and VI than in the upper cortical layers. In addition, we have observed modifications in the morphology of CaBP-ir cells throughout development. During the first eleven days (in the SS cortex) heavily labelled cells are polymorphous neurons with variegated dendritic arborizations, bitufted cells and bipolar neurons distributed in all cortical layers. In the second half of the first month, bitufted and bipolar cells are encountered in the upper cortical layers, and only small numbers of multipolar neurons are found in layers V and VI (Fig. 16).

Besides nonpyramidal neurons, pyramidal cells in layers II and III exhibit the typical homogeneous labelling of adults (Celio, 1990) from the age of 15 days onwards.

The number of SRIF-ir cells increases during the first two weeks of postnatal life, and decreases thereafter with a second peak at P30. This pattern differs from that found in CaBP-ir cells.



FIG. 16. Development of calbindin (CaBP) immunoreactive cells in the cerebral cortex of the rat. A and D: 6 days; D and E: 11 days; C and F: 21 days. All pictures are from the somatosensory cortex Par 1. A to C: The number of CaBP-ir cells increases during the first two weeks of postnatal life, and decrease thereafter. This decrease is particularly noticeable in layers V and VI. In rats aged 15 days and older (i.e. 21 days) pyramidal neurons in layers II and III are homogeneously stained. D to F: The morphology of CaBP-ir cells also varies in the course of development. In addition to bipolar and bitufted cells, multipolar neurons are very common during the first fortnight, but much rarer in animals older than 15 days. A, B and C, same magnification, bar = 100 microns. D, E and F, same magnification, bar = 75 microns.

The progressive changes in the number of CaBPand SRIF-ir neurons in the somatosensory cortex of developing rats is shown in Fig. 17. These quantitative data can be compared with the rates of cell death (as expressed by the proportion of dead cells per 1000 live neurons) in the same cortical region during the same period.

These figures indicate that naturally occurring cell death and decreased CaBP and SRIF expressions in the cerebral cortex of the developing rat are not coincidental. Hence, it may be suggested that cell death is not primarily involved in the regulation of the total number of cortical local-circuit neurons, at least once these cells start to express determinate proteins or peptides. Furthermore, cell death predominates in the upper cortical layers, while the main changes in the morphology and number of CaBPand SRIF-ir neurons take place in layers V and VI.

Along these lines, we can also postulate that the decrease in the number of peptidergic and CaBP-ir neurons during normal development is the result of reduced immunoreactive expressions rather than the



FIG. 17. Number of calbindin- (CaBP-) and somatostatin- (SRIF-) immunoreactive neurons in the somatosensory cortex (Par 1 + Par 2) of the rat during normal development, compared with the number of dead cells (as expressed by the number of dead cells per 1000 live neurons) in the same cortical region. CaBP-ir neurons increase in number from birth to day 11 in this cortical region, and decrease abruptly at day 15 and more slowly thereafter to reach adult values at the end of the third week. SRIF-ir neurons increase in number from birth to day 15 and decrease afterwards. A second peak is, however, found at the end of the first month which is followed by a gentle decrease to adult values in the next months. The number of dead cells increases from birth to day 7 and rapidly decreases during the second week, and more slowly until postnatal day 30. Asterisks in every case mark significant differences (Mann-Whitney U test, p < 0.05) with immediately anterior counts. Curves representing the number of CaBP- and SRIFimmunoreactive neurons are not synchronous, thus suggesting that immunoreactive expressions are independent for the neuropeptide and the calcium-binding protein. These curves are not coincidental with the one representing the number of dead cells, a feature which does not support the possibility of reduced immunoreactive expressions being due to cell death. Finally, modifications in the number of CaBP- and SRIF-ir neurons are not the result of dilution of the same number of neurons in the growing brain, as can be inferred from the observation of the areal increase of the SS cortex during the period studied.

effect of cell death, and that shifting immunoreactive expressions during development of the cerebral cortex are particular for each neuropeptide and neuronal protein.

These features are in contrast, as we have previously seen, with observations in the cortical subplate, in which lessening neuropeptide immunoreactivity is accompanied by cell death and neuron loss.

Specific thalamic afferents may play a role in the modelling of the expression of certain neuropeptides in cortical populations. Somatostatinimmunoreactive cells increase in number in the visual cortex of adult rats enucleated at birth (Jeffery and Parnavelas, 1987; Parnavelas and Cavanagh, 1988), or subjected to early light deprivation (Papadopoulos *et al.*, 1988). Likewise, early lesion of mysticial vibrissae in rats results in an increase of SRIF-labelled cells in the somatosensory cortex (Parnavelas *et al.*, 1990).

6.6. CORTICAL CELL DEATH IS RELATED TO THE TOTAL NUMBER OF CORTICAL NEURONS

The possibility that cell death may be related to the control of cell numbers has been postulated in other parts of the nervous tissue (Purves, 1980, 1988; Oppenheim, 1981, 1991). We have observed that naturally occurring cell death in the cerebral cortex decreases in micrencephalic rats produced after prenatal X-irradiation (Ferrer *et al.*, 1991a). This suggests that postnatal cell death may be related to the total number of cortical neurons.

In the following experiment, Wistar rats were treated with 100 cGy X-rays at embryonic day 18 (E18) in an attempt to kill neurons which should populate the upper cortical layers (Berry and Rogers, 1965; Hicks and D'Amato, 1968; Raedler and Raedler, 1978). Irradiated animals studied at different postnatal ages had lower brain weight and decreased cortical thickness when compared to age-matched controls; furthermore, although the inner cortical layers were preserved, layers II and III were reduced one half (n = 8 at every age; Mann-Whitney U test,p < 0.05). These findings agree with reduced thickness of layers II and III and decreased corpus callosum in rats irradiated at later stages of gestation (Hicks and D'Amato, 1966; Jensen and Altman, 1982; Ferrer et al., 1984).

The morphology and distribution of dead cells in the cerebral cortex and subcortical white matter were similar in controls and irradiated animals, but the number of dead cells in the cerebral cortex was dramatically reduced in micrencephalic rats (Table 2). For example, the proportion of dead cells in the somatosensory cortex of irradiated rats was 0.97 ± 0.38 dead cells per 1000 live neurons at P7, which was in striking contrast to 2.38 ± 0.37 dead cells per 1000 live neurons in controls (n = 16, Student t test, p < 0.05).

Reduction of dead cells was not homogeneous. As shown in Fig. 18, the number of dead cells in the future subcortical white matter was preserved throughout development in irradiated rats, whereas cell death decline was restricted to the upper and inner cortical layers.



FIG. 18. Number of dead cells in the subcortical white matter (SWM) and cortical layers II and III and IV to VI in control and X-irradiated rats (100 cGy, embryonic day 18: E18), at different postnatal days. The region examined corresponds to the cortical region between the callosal and rhinal fissures of the left cerebral hemisphere, which includes the somatosensory cortex, hindlimb region of the motor cortex, frontal regions FRI and FR2, and retrosplenial agranular and granular cortices. Numbers correspond to mean values of dead cells per tissue section from 9–10 animals at every age. The number of dead cells is markedly reduced in the cortical layers of irradiated animals when examined at the ages of 7 and 10 days. The number of dead cells is not affected in the subcortical white matter.

These results harmonize with the observation that the number of neurons per unit column is quite constant in different brain regions in different species (Rockel *et al.*, 1980). These data also point to the likelihood that cell death in the cerebral cortex adjust cell numbers accordingly to the total number of cortical neurons.

7. CELL DEATH IN THE MOLECULAR LAYER

The presence of a few dying cells in the molecular layer during the first week of postnatal life renews interest in the fate of Cajal-Retzius (CR) cells.

Several hypotheses have been proposed to explain the decrease in the number of CR cells during late stages of development (Fox and Inman, 1966; Barón and Gallego, 1971; Bradford *et al.*, 1977; Edmunds and Parnavelas, 1982; Marín-Padilla and Marín-Padilla, 1982; Parnavelas and Edmunds, 1983; Marín-Padilla, 1984). These include, (1) preservation of original cell numbers and resulting dilution into a growing neuropil; (2) transformation into other nonpyramidal neurons of layer I; and (3) degeneration and neuron loss.

Recent autoradiographic studies have shown that neurons, labelled with tritiated thymidine early in fetal life, in the molecular layer of the visual cortex of the cat progressively decrease as maturation spreads (Luskin and Shatz, 1985). As reported in Section 5.4 and Fig. 14, similar observations were made in the cerebral cortex of the mouse after the injection of 5'-BrdU at E10 and Ell when the animals were examined at different prenatal and postnatal ages.

Large numbers of labelled neurons were found at E18, but only a very few cells were labelled at P5. No labelled cells were present in the molecular layer in mice aged 45 days. Electronmicroscopic studies in the mouse brain have demonstrated degenerating nerve cells, as well as dead cells engulfed by probable microglial cells in the molecular layer (Derer and Derer, 1990).

Finally, CR cells in the cerebral cortex of the monkey are calbindin immunoreactive throughout the fetal period, and parvalbumin (another calciumbinding protein) immunoreactive between embryonic days 130 and 150. However, CR cells are no longer immunostained from few days after birth onwards (Huntley and Jones, 1990).

We have used anti-Hu antibodies to elucidate the development of Hu-antigen expression in nerve cells during fetal and early postnatal periods in the rat, and demonstrated that anti-Hu is a good marker of developing and adult nerve cells (Graus and Ferrer, 1990).

Anti-Hu antibodies are produced in patients with lung cancer and paraneoplastic encephalomyelitis (Graus *et al.*, 1986; Anderson *et al.*, 1988). By immunohistochemistry, anti-Hu stains neurons and small cell lung cancer, but not other normal tissues or other tumors (Graus *et al.*, 1986; Budde-Steffen *et al.*, 1988).

We observed (Graus and Ferrer, 1990) that horizontal neurons in the molecular layer, immunolabelled with the antibody anti-Hu, progressively vanish, at the time that globular cells appear in the molecular layer. As a result, cells with characteristics of CR neurons are no longer found after the first week of postnatal life in the rat (Fig. 19).

Whether these cells die or transform into other cellular types is still debatable, but taken together these features, including our birthdating studies with 5'-BrdU in mice, would suggest that CR cells ultimately disappear in adulthood. However, in another study we have found calbindin-immunoreactive horizontal cells in the molecular layer in the adult human temporal cortex (Ferrer *et al.*, 1991b), but not in the frontal cortex. Therefore, these features indicate that the fate of CR cells is, at least in the human brain, subjected to regional variations.

8. TRANSITORY PHAGOCYTES DURING NORMAL DEVELOPMENT

Rio Hortega first described microglial cells as non-neuroectodermal elements with phagocytic functions in normal development and pathological conditions (Rio Hortega, 1919, 1920, 1921).

In the rat, nascent or ameboid microglial cells appear during the late fetal and early postnatal periods. These cells have condensed chromatin, vacuolated cytoplasm and plasma membranes with finger-like projections, and exhibit nonspecific esterase, peroxidase, thyamine pyrophosphatase and acid phosphatase activities (Ling and Tan, 1974; Ling, 1976, 1977, 1980; Das, 1976a and b; Boya et al., 1979; Ferrer and Sarmiento, 1980a; Imamoto, 1981; Ling et al., 1982; Murabe and Sano, 1982; Kaur et al., 1982). Nascent microglial cells react with anti-macrophage and anti-granulomonocyte antiserums and anti-MAC-1 surface antigen (Valentino and Jones, 1981; Murabe and Sano, 1983; Miyake et al., 1984; Matsumoto and Ikuta, 1985), and anti-leucocyte common antigen. They also exhibit other cell surface antigens including F4/80, Fc, CR3, CD4, which are important in the immune response (Perry and Gordon, 1988).

The cytoplasmic membrane of ameboid microglial cells can be labelled with lectins (Boya *et al.*, 1991). Also, lectins are bound to specific membrane receptors and later internalized in living microglial cells (Kaur *et al.*, 1990). This indicates that the plasma membrane of nascent microglial cells contains carbohydrates which may play a role in the process of cell recognition and phagocytosis (Duvall *et al.*, 1985; Springer, 1990).

Ameboid microglial cells isolated from developing rat brains contain nonspecific esterase activity, the macrophage surface antigens MAC-1 and MAC-2, and acetylated low-density lipoprotein receptors (Giulian and Baker, 1986). Ameboid microglial cells are labelled by injecting carbon particles or horseradish peroxidase (Ling, 1979; Ling *et al.*, 1980; Kaur *et al.*, 1986). Furthermore, the injection of mononuclear blood cells labelled with tritiated thymidine from a donor to developing animals permits the observation of labelled cells at the sites where nascent microglial cells are usually found (Ferrer and Sarmiento, 1980a). Taken together, these features indicate that nascent or ameboid microglial cells belong to the mononuclear phagocyte system, and penetrate the nervous system attending operative stimuli.

In the developing rat, nascent microglial cells are found in large numbers in the subcortical white matter from shortly before birth until about the second week of postnatal life. Lower numbers of microglial cells are encountered below the cortical surface from P0 to P10. In addition to vacuoles filled with neutral lipids, ameboid microglial cells have polymorphous inclusions and engulfed cytoplasmic and nuclear debris (Fig. 20).

These features point to the likelihood that removal of degenerating cellular processes and dead cells are major functions of nascent microglial cells (Perry and Gordon, 1988; Ferrer *et al.*, 1990a; Ashwell, 1991). Similar conclusions have been proposed regarding transitory phagocytes in the subcortical white matter of the kitten, which engulf the remnants of decayed transitory corticocortical projections (Innocenti *et al.*, 1983a and b), and in the cerebellum of the developing mouse regarding transitory microglial cells which scavenge dead cells (Ashwell, 1990).

9. CELL DEATH AND THE FORMATION OF CEREBRAL CONVOLUTIONS

9.1. FORMATION OF NORMAL CONVOLUTIONS

The formation and growth of the cerebral gyri and sulci has been recently analyzed in great detail. Major coincidental features during the process of gyrogenesis in normal development are maturation of nerve cells and dendrites, synaptogenesis, arrival of afferents (mainly thalamic and corticocortical), laminar aggregation and segregation, orientation of nerve cells, glial proliferation and rearrangement of cells and fibers (Welker, 1990).

All these features harmoniously assemble following precise areal and temporal patterns, most probably, commanded by the orderly arrival and maturation of cortical afferents (Welker and Campos, 1963; Welker and Johnson, 1965; Goldman-Rakic and Galkin, 1978; Goldman-Rakic, 1980; Goldman-Rakic and Rakic, 1984; Johnson, 1980; Smart and McSherry, 1986a and b; Ferrer et al., 1988; Rakic, 1988). This assessment is based on the following observations: (1) Convolutions are formed following differences in growth between the gyral and sulcal regions, and between neighboring folding units (Smart and McSherry, 1986a and b; Ferrer et al., 1988); (2) Some convolutions are anatomically and functionally defined conforming to their thalamic afferents (Welker and Campos, 1963; Welker and Johnson, 1965; Johnson, 1980); (3) Abnormal gyri and sulci are produced after removal of specific nuclei or connections early in development while the cerebral surface is still smooth (Goldman-Rakic and Galkin, 1978; Goldman-Rakic, 1980; Goldman-Rakic and Rakic. 1984; Rakic, 1988; Welker, 1990).

In line with these findings, it has been shown that the size of the subplate zone anticipates regional differences related to the late configuration of the cerebral surface because the subplate zone in the gyral regions is larger than in the sulcal zones (Kostovic and Rakic, 1990). For this reason, it has been proposed that the subplate zone may play a role not only in the parcelation of cytoarchitectonic areas, but in the formation of cerebral convolutions (Rakic, 1988; Kostovic and Rakic, 1990).

It has been suggested that neurons in the subplate zone may die as a consequence of deafferentation once afferent fibers waiting in the future subcortical white matter penetrate the cerebral cortex. If we accept this hypothesis, naturally occurring cell death in the subplate zone does not have a pivotal role in the formation of cerebral convolutions. However, if the alternative hypothesis is considered, in which cortical afferents move towards the cerebral cortex because transitory neurons in the cortical subplate die, then cell death in the subplate eventually promotes the formation of cerebral cortex of large amounts of fibers which stimulate and gear the maturation of cortical neurons.

Although it seems premature to accept (or reject) a role of dead cells in the cortical subplate in the formation of the cerebral convolutions, it has been clearly shown that naturally occurring cell death in the cerebral cortex, at least in the cat, does not have a significant function in the process of cortical folding. This is simply because cell death in the cerebral cortex of kittens takes place just after gyri and sulci are formed (Ferrer *et al.*, 1989).

Even though it does not shape the external configuration of the brain, cell death in the cerebral cortex of the cat probably models the final cellular organization in the gyral and sulcal zones. This is supported by the fact that the sum of dead cells is larger in the sulcus than in the crown of the gyrus, a feature which is in accordance with the small cortical thickness of the sulci when compared to the gyri in adulthood (Ferrer *et al.*, 1986, 1987, 1988, 1990).

9.2. FORMATION OF PATHOLOGICAL GYRI

In contrast to normal development, in which cortical folding is independent of naturally occurring cell death in the cerebral cortex, cortical necrosis at appropriate times of development may promote the formation of abnormal convolutions. Observations in spontaneous cortical abnormalities in humans and in experimentally-induced cortical malformations in rodents support these hypotheses.

Human polymicrogyria is characterized by multiple, irregular and small gyri, often not exteriorized by sulci (Bielchowsky, 1916; Crome, 1952; Larroche, 1984; Barth, 1987; Friede, 1989). In some cases, polymicrogyria is the result of laminar cortical necrosis produced as a consequence of an hypoxic accident occurring after neuronal migration to the cerebral cortex is almost completed and before secondary and tertiary sulci have developed (Richman et al., 1974; Williams et al., 1976). In other cases, polymicrogyria is, probably, secondary to circulatory failure in the radial and unbranched cortical arteries penetrating from the meningeal surface, and which vascularize the cerebral cortex at mid-gestation, before the end of the period of neuroblast migration to the cortical plate (Ferrer and Catalá, 1991). The particular



FIG. 19. Neurons in the cerebral cortex of the developing rat immunolabelled with the anti-Hu antibody (see Graus and Ferrer, 1990). A—Newborn rat showing MOL: molecular layer and layer VIb (VIb), separate this latter from the other cortical layers by a thin band almost devoid of nerve cells; B to E—Neurons in the molecular layer in newborn (B), 3 day-old (C), 5 day-old (D) and 10 day-old (E) rat. Horizontal neurons with morphological characteristics of Cajal-Retzius cells progressively vanish in the molecular layer, while globular neurons appear instead. Original serum diluted at 1/1000. Avidin and biotin method. A, bar = 100 microns. B to E, same magnification, bar = 50 microns.



FIG. 20. Microglial cells in the developing cortex and subcortical white matter of the rat. A to E—Classical ameboid microglial cells stained with the Rio Hortega's method for microglia. A: Subcortical white matter of the 3 day-old rat; B: Subcortical white matter in the rat aged 7 days; C: Ameboid microglial in the subcortical white matter of the rat aged 5 days; D and E: Ameboid and ramified, respectively, microglial cells in the upper cortical layers (layers II–III) in rats aged 7 days. F to H—Epon-embedded, semithin sections stained with toluidine blue showing ameboid cells (arrows) in the rat aged 5 days. F: Subcendimal region (SER) (V): ventricle; (E): ependima. G and H: Subcortical white matter. I and J—Microglial cells engulfing nuclear debris (M): microglia; (BV): blood vessel K—Microglial cell engulfing cellular debris (arrows); (C): centriole. A and B, bar = 100 microns. C to H, same magnification, bar = 20 microns. I and J, bar = 2 microns. K, bar = 1 micron.



FIG. 21. Development of an abnormal gyrus in the rat following gentle rubbing of the cortical meninge at birth radial necrosis of the cerebral cortex is accomplished, probably, due to destruction of radial unbranched blood vessels which penetrate from the meninge to vascularize the immature cerebral cortex.
A—Reactive microglial cells, similar in morphology and function to ameboid microglial cells, appear after 24 hr, and phagocyte cellular debris in the necrotic radial territories. Rio Hortega's silver method for microglia. B—Reactive microglial cell engulfing large numbers of cellular debris. C and D—Formation of abnormal gyri with 'fused' molecular layers in a rat aged 7 days. Cortical lamination is lost at the site of the cortical abnormality. A, bar = 100; B, bar = 200; C, bar = 100; D, bar = 2 microns.

morphology of this cortical abnormality finally depends on the imbalance in the tangential growth of adjoining cortical areas variably destroyed by tissue necrosis (Ferrer, 1984).

Microgyria has been experimentally produced in rats by freezing the cortical surface in newborn animals, just at the time when the last neuroblasts migrate to their definitive emplacements in the cerebral cortex (Dvorák and Feit, 1977; Dvorák *et al.*, 1978; Humphreys *et al.*, 1991). In these experiments tissue necrosis was caused by applying a freezing probe to the skull overlying the cerebral hemispheres. We have obtained similar results after gentle rubbing of the meninge with small blunt needles after covering their ends with cotton.

Microgyria was often observed in animals treated at birth or in rats 1 day old, but microgyria is never produced in animals older than 2 days. Sequential studies showed focal areas of necrosis of the cerebral cortex which followed oblique or perpendicular trajectories to the surface. With electron microscopy, necrotic cells exhibited shrunken cytoplasm with dilated endoplasmic reticulum, perinuclear membranes and Golgi complex, together with condensation of the mitochondrial matrix. The nucleus was dark and the nucleolus condensed. These characteristics differed from those found in normal postnatal cell death, but were typical of the so-called cytoplasmic type of cell death (Pilar and Landmesser, 1976).

After 24 hr, areas of necrosis were populated by large numbers of macrophages, as previously described in rats subjected to cortical lesions at birth (Ferrer and Sarmiento, 1980b).

Reorganization of radial cortical necrosis led to the formation of abnormal cortical folds not exteriorized by sulci in animals older than two weeks (Fig. 21). These results give further support to the notion that cortical folding ultimately builds upon the unbalanced distribution of intracortical neurons.

In summary, cortical cell death during normal development is a late phenomenon probably contributing to the final stabilization of cell numbers in the sulcal and gyral regions (Ferrer *et al.*, 1989). On the contrary, pathological cell death at very precise stages of development may induce the formation of abnormal cortical folds.

10. FINAL COMMENTS

Many mechanisms have been proposed to explain why some neurons die during normal development.

The nerve growth factor theory (Hamburger and Oppenheim, 1982; Oppenheim, 1985, 1989, 1991; Purves, 1988) derives from the observation that nerve growth factor is necessary for the survival of certain neuronal populations (Hamburger and Levi-Montalcini, 1949; Levi-Montalcini and Hamburger, 1951; Levi-Montalcini, 1966; Hamburger, 1980; Levi-Montalcini and Aloe, 1981; Hamburger *et al.*, 1981), and states that neurons compete for trophic factors produced by their targets (Hamburger and Oppenheim, 1982; Purves, 1988; Davies, 1988; Barde, 1989; Oppenheim, 1989, 1991). Since these are produced in small amounts, it is postulated that only nerve cells with appropriate levels of growth factors can survive.

Other populations of neurons depend on hormones. Neuronal death in amphibian metamorphosis is related to thyroxine levels (Kollros, 1981). Death of abdominal neurons in the moth *Manduca sexta* is associated with the decline in ecdysteroids (20 HE) (Truman and Schwartz, 1980), and treatment with 20 HE at physiological concentrations prevents neuronal death (Truman and Schwartz, 1984). Sexually dimorphic nuclei in the spinal cord and other brain regions of rodents are androgen dependent (Nordeen *et al.*, 1985; Wright and Smolen, 1983, 1987; Sengelaub and Arnold, 1989). Similarly, the survival of forebrain neurons which control the song of male songbirds (e.g. zebrafinch) is steroid dependent (Nordeen *et al.*, 1987).

Programmed neuron death in the nematode C. elegans is a result of the activation of different genes which encode different proteins involved in cell killing and engulfment (Horvitz et al., 1982; Chalfie and Wolinsky, 1990; Ellis et al., 1991).

This short overview reveals that naturally occurring cell death may be triggered by many different factors and we do not yet know which can act in the telencephalic mantle during normal development. Deprivation of distinct trophic factors may play a role in cortical cell death, but much work must be done before this theory is proved. On the other hand, the proposal that the expression of certain proteins is a putative marker for cell death during development (Al-Ghoul and Miller, 1989; Naegele *et al.*, 1991), cannot be justified in some cases (Valverde *et al.*, 1990).

Naturally occurring cell death in the cerebral cortex, cortical subplate and future subcortical white matter resembles apoptosis, which in other systems is characterized by 'nuclear condensation associated with the activation of a specific endonuclease which cleaves the cell's DNA into microsome-like fragments' (Wyllie, 1981, 1987). Ca²⁺/Mg²⁺ endonuclease activation has been demonstrated in apoptotic lymphocytes and thymic cells (Wyllie *et al.*, 1980, 1984; Wyllie, 1981, 1987; Duke *et al.*, 1983; Cohen and Duke, 1984; Cotter *et al.*, 1990; McConkey *et al.*, 1990).

Recent studies have proposed that a similar active process may occur in some nerve cell populations *in vitro* (Martin *et al.*, 1988; Scott and Davies, 1990) and *in vivo* (Fahrbach and Truman, 1987; Oppenheim *et al.*, 1990), as deduced from the observation that actinomycin-D and cycloheximide, which are inhibitors of protein and RNA synthesis, may reduce the amount of cell death in these systems.

In addition, flunarazine, a Ca^{2+} channel antagonist which probably blocks intracellular entry of Ca^{2+} , protects neurons from death after axotomy or nerve growth factor deprivation (Rich and Hollowell, 1990).

Cycloheximide reduces ischemic delayed cell death in the rat hippocampus (Goto *et al.*, 1990), while irradiation-induced apoptosis in the developing rodent cerebellum (Inouye and Kameyama, 1983; Harmon and Allan, 1988) is also inhibited by cycloheximide (Inouye *et al.*, 1991). However, further studies are needed to elucidate whether novel RNA and protein syntheses are required in relation to cortical cell death during normal development.

Acknowledgements—We wish to thank Dr A. Gimeno and D. Gálvez-Sánchez for their care of the animals. We are indebted to Drs M. C. Lizuain, C. Cinós and I. Febrián for their help in the irradiation of the animals, and to E. Digón, E. Laforet and M. J. Zújar for their technical assistance. Studying the distribution of Hu antigen expression in the developing brain was an original idea of Dr F. Graus whose friendship and collaboration is sincerely appreciated. We wish to thank Drs M. R. Celio (Fribourg) and C. Matutes (Lejona) for their kind gift of calbindin and glutamate antibodies respectively.

Dr B. Heimrich (Freiburg) helped us with the photoconversion of the DII procedure. We are indebted to M. Mayoral for his help in the statistical processing, and to D. Waid and L. Barnett for editorial advice.

This work was supported by grants FIS 90E1263 and RTD (CEC) program B17-0003-C.

REFERENCES

- ADAMS, C. E., MIHAILOFF, G. A. and WOODWARD, D. J. (1983) A transient component of the developing corticospinal tract arises in the visual cortex. *Neurosci. Lett.* 36, 243-248.
- AL-GHOUL, W. M. and MILLER, M. W. (1989) Transient expression of Alz-50 immunoreactivity in developing rat neocortex: a marker for naturally occurring neuronal death? *Brain Res.* 481, 361–367.
- ALLENDOERFER, K. L., SHELTON, D. L., SHOOTER, E. M. and SHATZ, C. J. (1989) Subplate neurons transiently express NGF receptor immunoreactivity. *Abstr. Soc. Neurosci.* 15, 1.
- ANDERSON, N. E., ROSENBLUM, M. K., GRAUS, F., WILEY, R. G. and POSNER, J. B. (1988) Autoantibodies in paraneoplastic syndromes associated with small-cell lung cancer. *Neurology* 38, 1391–1398.
- ANGEVINE, J. B., JR and SIDMAN, S. L. (1961) Autoradiographic study of cell migration during histogenesis of cerebral cortex in mouse. *Nature* 192, 766–768.
- ANTONINI, A. and SHATZ, C. J. (1990) Relation between putative transmitter phenotypes and connectivity of subplate neurons during cerebral cortical development. *Eur J. Neurosci.* 2, 744–761.
- AREES, E. A. and ASTRÖM, K. E. (1977) Cell death in the optic tectum of the developing rat. Anat Embryol. 151, 29-34.
- ASHWELL, K. (1990) Microglia and cell death in the developing mouse cerebellum. *Devl Brain Res.* 55, 219–230.
- ASHWELL, K. (1991) The distribution of microglia and cell death in the fetal rat forebrain. *Devl Brain Res.* 58, 1–12.
- BANKER, B. Q. (1982) Physiologic death of neurons in the developing anterior horn of the mouse. In: *Motor Neuron Disease*, pp. 479–491. Ed. L. P. ROWLAND. Raven Press: New York.
- BARDE, Y. A. (1989) Trophic factors and neuronal survival. Neuron 2, 1525-1534.
- BARÓN, M. and GALLEGO, A. (1971) Cajal cells of the rabbit cerebral cortex. *Experientia* 27, 430-432.
- BARTH, P. G. (1987) Disorders of neuronal migration. Can. J. Neurol. Sci. 14, 1-16.
- BATES, C. A. and KILLACKEY, H. D. (1984) The emergence of a discretely distributed pattern of corticospinal projection neurons. *Devl Brain Res.* 13, 265–273.
- BAULAC, M. and MININGER, V. (1983) Postnatal development and cell death in the sciatic motor nucleus of the mouse. *Expl Brain Res.* 50, 107–116.

- BAYER, S. A. and ALTMAN, J. (1990) Development of layer I and the subplate in rat neocortex. *Expl Neurol.* 107, 48-62.
- BENNETT, M. R., MCGARTH, P. A., DAVEY, D. F. and HUTCHINSON, I. (1983) Death of motoneurons during the postnatal loss of polyneuronal innervation of rat muscles. J. comp. Neurol. 218, 351-363.
- BERRY, M. and ROGERS, A. W. (1965) The migration of neuroblasts in the developing cerebral cortex. J. Anat., Lond. 99, 691-709.
- BETZ, W. J. (1987) Motoneuron death and synapse elimination in vertebrates. In: *The Vertebrate Neuromuscular Junction*, pp. 117–162. Ed. M. M. SLAPER. Alan R. Liss: New York.
- BEULATON, J. and LOCKSHIN, R. A. (1982) The relation of programmed cell death to development and reproduction: Comparative studies and an attempt at classification. *Int. Rev. Cytol.* 79, 215–235.
- BIELCHOWSKY, M. (1916) Uber Mikrogyrie. J. Psychol. Neurol. 22, 1-47.
- BLAKEMORE, C. and MOLNAR, Z. (1990) Factors involved in the establishment of specific interconnections between thalamus and cerebral cortex. In: *Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology. Vol. LV.* Cold Spring Harbor Lab. Press.
- BOLZ, J., NOVAK, N., GÖTZ, M. and BONHOEFFER, T. (1990) Formation of target-specific neuronal projections in organotypic slice cultures from rat visual cortex. *Nature* 26, 359–362.
- BOTTJER S. H. and SENGELAUB, D. R. (1989) Cell death during development of a forebrain nucleus involved with vocal learning in Zebra finches. J. Neurobiol. 20, 609-618.
- BOULDER COMMITTEE (1970) Embryonic vertebrate central nervous system: revised terminology. Anat. Rec. 166, 257–262.
- BOYA, J., CALVO, J. L., CARBONELL, A. L. and BORREGÓN, A. (1991) A lectin histochemistry study on the development of rat microglial cells. J. Anat., Lond. 175, 229-236.
- BOYA, J., CALVO, J. and PRADO, A. (1979) The origin of microglial cells. J. Anat., Lond. 129, 177-186.
- BRADFORD, R., PARNAVELAS, J. G. and LIEBERMAN, A. R. (1977) Neurons in layer I of the developing occipital cortex of the rat. J. Comp. Neurol. 176, 121-132.
- BRENÉ, S., LINDEFORS, N., FRIEDMAN, W. J. and PERSSON, H. (1990) Preprotachykinin mRNA expression in the rat brain during development. *Devl Brain Res.* 57, 151–162.
- BUDDE-STEFFEN, C., ANDERSON, N. E., ROSENBLUM, M. K. and POSNER, J. B. (1988) Expression of an antigen in small cell lung carcinoma lines detected by antibodies from patients with paraneoplastic dorsal root ganglionopathy. *Cancer Res.* 48, 430–434.
- CAMMERMEYER, J. (1972) Nonspecific changes of the central nervous system in normal and experimental material. In: *The Structure and Function of Nervous Tissue Vol. VI*, pp. 132–251. Ed. G. H. BOURNE. Academic Press: New York.
- CANTINO, D. and SISTO, L. (1972) Cell death in the developing optic tectum. Brain Res. 38, 13-25.
- CATALANO, S. M., ROBERTSON, R. T. and KILLACKEY, H. P. (1991) Early ingrowth of thalamocortical afferents to the neocortex of the prenatal rat. *Proc. natn Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 88, 2999–3003.
- CAVANAGH, M. E. and PARNAVELAS, J. G. (1988) Development of somatostatin immunoreactive neurons in the rat occipital cortex: A combined immunocytochemicalautoradiographic study. J. comp. Neurol. 268, 1-12.
- CAVANAGH, M. E. and PARNAVELAS, J. G. (1989) Development of vasoactive-intestinal-polypeptide-immunoreactive neurons in the rat occipital cortex: A combined immunohistochemical-autoradiographic study. J. comp. Neurol. 284, 637-645.
- CAVINESS, V. J., JR (1982) Neocortical histogenesis in normal and reeler mice: A developmental study based upon

³H-thymidine autoradiography. *Devl Brain Res.* 4, 293–302.

- CELIO, M. R. (1990) Calbindin D-28k and parvalbumin in the rat nervous system. *Neuroscience* 35, 375-475.
- CHALFIE, M. and WOLINSKY, E. (1990) The identification and suppression of inherited neurodegeneration in *Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature* 345, 410-416.
- CHALUPA, L. M. and KILLACKEY, H. P. (1989) Process elimination underlies ontogenetic change in the distribution of callosal projection neurons in the postcentral gyrus of the fetal rhesus monkey. *Proc. natn Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 86, 1076–1079.
- CHOW, K. L., BAUMBACH, H. D. and LAWSON, R. (1981) Callosal projections of striate cortex in the neonatal rabbit. *Expl Brain Res.* **42**, 122–126.
- CHRONWALL, B. and WOLFF, J. R. (1980) Prenatal and postnatal development of GABA-accumulating cells in the occipital neocortex of rat. J. comp. Neurol. 190, 187-208.
- CHU-WANG, I. W. and OPPENHEIM, R. W. (1978) Cell death of motoneurons in the chick embryo spinal cord. I. Light and electron microscopical study of naturally-occurring and induced cell loss during development. J. comp. Neurol. 177, 33-58.
- CHUN, J. J. M., NAKAMURA, N. J. and SHATZ, C. J. (1987) Transient cells of the developing mammalian telencephalon are peptide immunoreactive neurons. *Nature* 235, 617–659.
- CHUN, J. M. and SHATZ, C. J. (1988a) A fibronectin-like molecule is present in the developing cat cerebral cortex and is correlated with subplate neurons. J. Cell Biol. 106, 857-872.
- CHUN, J. M. and SHATZ, C. J. (1988b) Distribution of synaptic vesicle antigens is correlated with the disappearance of a transient synaptic zone in the developing cerebral cortex. *Neuron* 1, 297–310.
- CHUN J. J. and SHATZ, C. L. (1989a) The earliest-generated neurons of the cat cerebral cortex: characterization by MPA2 and neurotransmitter immunohistochemistry during fetal life. J. Neurosci. 9, 1648–1667.
- CHUN, J. J. M. and SHATZ, C. J. (1989b) Interstitial cells of the adult neocortical white matter are the remnant of the early generated subplate neuron population. J. comp. Neurol. 282, 555-569.
- CLARKE, P. G. H. (1985) Neuronal death in the development of the vertebrate nervous system. *TINS* 8, 345-349.
- CLARKE, P. G. H. (1990) Developmental cell death: Morphological diversity and multiple mechanisms. *Anat. Embryol.* 181, 195-213.
- COBAS, A., FAIRÉN, A., ALVAREZ-BOLADO, G. and SÁNCHEZ, M. P. (1991) Prenatal development of the intrinsic neurons of the rat neocortex: a comparative study of the distribution of GABA-immunoreactive cells and the GABA receptor. *Neuroscience* 40, 375-395.
- COHEN, J. J. and DUKE, R. C. (1984) Glucocorticoid activation of a calcium-dependent endonuclease in thymocyte nuclei leads to cell death. J. Immunol. 132, 38-42.
- COMANS, P. E., MCLENNAN, I. S. and MARK, R. F. (1987) Mammalian motoneuron cell death: Development of the lateral motor column of a wallaby (*Macropus eugenii*). J. comp. Neurol. 260, 627–634.
- COTTER, T. G., LENNON, S. V., GLYNN, J. G. and MARTIN, S. J. (1990) Cell death via apoptosis and its relationship to growth, development and differentiation of both tumour and normal cells. *Anticancer Res.* 10, 1153–1160.
- COWAN, W. M. (1973) Neuronal death as a regulative mechanism in the control of cell number in the nervous system. In: Development and Aging of the Nervous System, pp. 19–41. Ed. M. ROCKSTEIN. Academic Press: New York.
- COWAN, W. M., FAWCETT, J. W., O'LEARY, D. M. and STANFIELD, B. B. (1984) Regressive events in neurogenesis. Science 225, 1258-1265.

- CRANDALL, J. E. and CAVINESS, V. S., JR (1984a) Thalamocortical connections in newborn mice. J. comp. Neurol. 228, 542–556.
- CRANDALL, J. E. and CAVINESS, V. S., JR (1984b) Axon strata of the cerebral wall in embryonic mice. *Devl Brain Res.* 14, 185–195.
- CRANDALL, J. E., JACOBSON, M. and KOSIK, K. S. (1986) Ontogenesis of microtubule-associated protein 2 (MAP2) in embryonic mouse cortex. *Devl Brain Res.* 28, 127–133.
- Скоме, L. (1952) Microgyria. J. Path. Bact. 64, 479-495.
- CUNNINGHAM, T. J. (1982) Naturally occurring neuron death and its regulation by developing natural pathways. Int. Rev. Cytol. 74, 163-187.
- CUNNINGHAM, T. J., MOHLER, I. M. and GIORDANO, D. L. (1982) Naturally occurring neuronal death in the ganglion cell layer of the neonatal rat: Morphology and evidence for regional correspondence with neuron death in the superior colliculus. *Devl Brain Res.* 2, 203–215.
- DAS, G. D. (1976a) Resting and reactive macrophages in the developing cerebellum. An experimental ultrastructural study. Virchows Arch. B Cell Path. 20, 287–298.
- DAS, G. D. (1976b) Gitter cells and their relationship to macrophages in the developing cerebellum. An electron microscopic study. Virchows Arch. B Cell Path. 20, 299-305.
- DAVIES, A. M. (1988) The emerging generality of the neurotrophic hypothesis. TINS 11, 243-244.
- DEL RIO, J. A. and SORIANO, E. (1989) Immunocytochemical detection of 5'-bromodeoxiuridine incorporation in the central nervous system of the mouse. *Devl Brain Res.* 49, 311.
- DEL RIO, J. A., SORIANO, E. and FERRER, I. (1991a) A transitory population of substance P-like immunoreactive neurons in the developing cerebral cortex of the mouse. *Devl Brain Res.*, 64, 205–211.
- DEL RIO, J. A., SORIANO, E. and FERRER, I. (1991b) Development of GABAergic neurons in the cerebral cortex of the mouse, submitted for publication.
- DEOLMOS, J. S. and INGRAM, W. R. (1971) An improved Cupric-silver method for impregnation of axonal and terminal degeneration. *Brain Res.* 33, 523-529.
- DERER, P. and DERER, M. (1990) Cajal-Retzius cell ontogenesis and death in mouse brain visualized with horseradish peroxidase and electronmicroscopy. *Neuroscience* 36, 839-856.
- DISTEL, H. and HOLLANDER, H. (1980) Autoradiographic tracing of developing subcortical projections of the occipital region in fetal rabbits. J. comp. Neurol. 192, 505-518.
- DREHER, B., POTTS, R. A. and BENNETT, M. R. (1984) Evidence that the early postnatal reduction in the number of rat retinal ganglion cells is due to a wave of ganglion cell death. *Neurosci. Lett.* 36, 255-260.
- DUKE, R. C., CHERVENAK R. and COHEN, J. J. (1983) Endogenous endonuclease-induced DNA fragmentation: an early event in cell-mediated cytolysis. *Proc. natn Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 80, 6361-6365.
- DUVALL, E., WYLLIE, A. H. and MORRIS, R. G. (1985) Macrophage recognition of cells undergoing programmed cell death (apoptosis). *Immunology* 56, 351-358.
- DVORÁK, K. and FEIT, J. (1977) Migration of neuroblasts through partial necrosis of the cerebral cortex in newborn rats. Contribution to the problems of morphological development and developmental period of cerebral microgyria. Acta Neuropath., Berlin 38, 203-212.
- DVORÁK, K., FEIT, J. and JURÁNKOVÁ, Z. (1978) Experimentally induced focal microgyria and status verrucosus deformis in rats. Pathogenesis and interrelation histological and autoradiographical study. *Acta Neuropath.*, *Berlin* 44, 121-129.
- EDMUNDS, S. M. and PARNAVELAS, J. G. (1982) Retzius-Cajal cells: an ultrastructural study in the developing visual cortex of the rat. J. Neurocytol. 11, 427-446.

- ELLIS, H. M., YUAN, J. and HORVITZ, H. R. (1991) Mechanisms and functions of cell death. A. Rev. Cell Biol. 7, 663-698.
- ENDERLIN, S., NORMAN, A. W. and CELIO, M. R. (1987) Ontogeny of the calcium binding protein calbindin D-28K in the rat nervous system. *Anat. Embryol.* 177, 15–28.
- FAHRBACH, S. E. and TRUMAN, J. W. (1987) Mechanisms for programmed cell death in the nervous system of a moth. In: Selective Neuronal Death, Ciba Foundation Symposium 126, pp. 65–81. Wiley: Chichester.
- FENG, J. Z. and BRUGGE, J. F. (1983) Postnatal development of auditory callosal connections in the kitten. J. comp. Neurol. 214, 416–426.
- FERRER, I. (1984) A Golgi analysis of unlayered polymicrogyria. Acta Neuropath,. Berlin 65, 69-76.
- FERRER, I. (1989) Developmental aspects of the neocortex of the bat. *Neurosci. Res.* 6, 573-580.
- FERRER, I., BERNET, E., SORIANO E., DEL RIO, T. and FONSECA, M. (1990a) Naturally occurring cell death in the cerebral cortex of the rat and removal of dead cells by transitory phagocytes. *Neuroscience* 39, 451–458.
- FERRER, I. and CATALÁ I. (1991) Unlayered polymicrogyria: structural and developmental aspects. Anat. Embryol. 184, 517-528.
- FERRER, I., FÁBREGUES, I. and CONDOM, E. (1986) A Golgi study of the sixth layer of the cerebral cortex. II. The gyrencephalic brain of Carnivora, Artiodactyla and Primates. J. Anat., Lond. 146, 87-104.
- FERRER, I., FÁBREGUES, I. and CONDOM, E. (1987) A Golgi study of the sixth layer of the cerebral cortex. III. Neuronal changes during normal and abnormal cortical folding. J. Anat., Lond. 152, 71–82.
- FERRER, I., HERNÁNDEZ-MARTÍ, M., BERNET, E. and CALOPA, M. (1989) Formation and growth of the cerebral convolutions. II. Cell death in the gyrus suprasylvius and adjoining sulci in the cat. Devl Brain Res. 45, 303-308.
- FERRER, I., HERNÁNDEZ-MARTÍ, M., BERNET, E. and GALOFRÉ E. (1988) Formation and growth of the cerebral convolutions. I. Postnatal development of the mediansuprasylvian gyrus and adjoining sulci in the cat. J. Anat., Lond. 160, 89–100.
- FERRER, I. and SARMIENTO, J. (1980a) Nascent microglia in the developing brain. Acta Neuropath., Berlin 50, 61-67.
- FERRER, I. and SARMIENTO, J. (1980b) Reactive microglia in the developing brain. Acta Neuropath., Berlin 50, 69-76.
- FERRER, I., SERRANO, T. and SORIANO, E. (1990b) Naturally occurring cell death in the subicular complex and hippocampus in the rat during development. *Neurosci. Res.* 8, 60–66.
- FERRER, I., SORIANO, E., MARTÍ, E., LAFORET, E., REYNERS, H. and GIANFELICI DE REYNERS, E. (1991a) Naturally occurring cell death in the cerebral cortex of the micrencephalic rat induced by prenatal X-irradiation. *Neurosci. Res.*, 12, 446–451.
- FERRER, I., TUÑÓN, T., SORIANO E., DEL RIO T., IRAIZOZ, I., FONSECA, M. and GUIONNET, N. (1991b) Calbindin-immunoreactivity in normal human temporal neocortex, *Brain Res.*, in press.
- FERRER, I., XUMETRA, A. and SANTAMARÍA, J. (1984) Cerebral malformation induced by prenatal X-irradiation: an autoradiographic and Golgi study. J. Anat., Lond. 138, 81–93.
- FINLAY, B. L. and PALLAS, S. L. (1989) Control of cell number in the developing mammalian visual system. *Progr. Neurobiol.* 32, 207–234.
- FINLAY, B. L., BERG, A. T. and SENGELAUB, D. R. (1982) Cell death in the mammalian visual system during normal development: II. Superior colliculus. J. comp. Neurol. 204, 318-324.
- FINLAY, B. and SLATTERY, M. (1983) Local differences in the amount of early cell death in neocortex predict adult local specializations. *Science* **219**, 1349–1351.

- Fox, M. W. and INMAN, O. (1966) Persistence of Retzius-Cajal cells in the developing dog brain. *Brain Res.* 3, 183–187.
- FRIEDE, R. L. (1989) Dysplasias of the cerebral cortex. In: Developmental Neuropathology, pp. 330–346. Springer: Berlin.
- FRIAUF, E., MCCONNELL, S. K. and SHATZ, C. J. (1989) Subplate cells in visual cortex function in transient synaptic microcircuits. *Abs. Soc. Neurosci.* 15, 1:1.
- FRIEDMAN, B. and PRICE, J. L. (1986) Age-dependent cell death in the olfactory cortex: lack of transneuronal degeneration in neonates. J. comp. Neurol. 246, 20–31.
- GHOSH, A., ANTONINI, A., MCCONNELL, S. K. and SHATZ, C. J. (1990) Requirement for subplate neurons in the formation of thalamocortical connections. *Nature* 347, 179–181.
- GIORDANO, D. L., MURRAY, M. and CUNNINGHAM, T. J. (1980) Naturally occurring neuron death in the optic layers of superior colliculus of the postnatal rats. J. Neurocytol. 9, 603-614.
- GIULIAN, D. and BAKER, T. J. (1986) Characterization of ameboid microglia isolated from developing mammalian brain. J. Neurosci. 6, 2163–2178.
- GOLDMAN-RAKIC, P. S. (1980) Morphological consequences of prenatal injury to the brain. *Prog. Brain Res.* 53, 3–19.
- GOLDMAN-RAKIC, P. S. and GALKIN, T. W. (1978) Prenatal removal of frontal association cortex in the Rhesus monkey: Anatomical and functional consequences in postnatal life. *Brain Res.* 52, 451–485.
- GOLDMAN-RAKIC, P. S. and RAKIC. P. (1984) Experimental modifications of gyral patterns. In: *Cerebral Dominance*: *The Biological Foundation*, pp. 179–192. Ed. N. GESH-WIND and A. N. GALABURDA. Harvard Univ. Press: Cambridge, MA.
- GONZALO, L. M. and TORREMADÉ, J. (1988) Hemispherectomy in the newborn hamster: effect on cell death in the extraocular motor nuclei. *Devl Brain Res.* 44, 309–313.
- GOTO, K., ISHIGE, A., SEKIGUCHI, K., IIZUKA, S., SUGIMOTO, A., YUZURIHARA, M., ABURADA, M., HOSOA, E. and KOGURE, K. (1990) Effects of cycloheximide on delayed neuronal death in rat hippocampus. *Brain Res.* 534, 299-302.
- GRAUS, F., ELKON, K. B., CORDON-CARDO, C. and POSNER, J. B. (1986) Sensory neuropathy and small cell lung cancer. Antineuronal antibody that also reacts with the tumor. Am. J. Med. 80, 45–52.
- GRAUS, F. and FERRER, I. (1990) Analysis of a neuronal antigen (Hu) expression in the developing rat brain detected by autoantibodies from patients with paraneoplastic encephalomyelitis. *Neurosci. Lett.* **112**, 14–18.
- HAJÓS, F., ZILLES, K. and GALLATZ, K. (1990) Vasoactive intestinal polypeptide (VIP) containing cells in the developing rat occipital hemisphere. *Anat. Embryol.* 182, 69–78.
- HAMBURGER, V. (1980) Trophic interactions in neurogenesis: A personal historical account. A. Rev. Neurosci. 3, 269-278.
- HAMBURGER, V., BRUNSO-BECHTOLD, J. K. and YIP, J. (1981) Neuronal death in the spinal ganglia of the chick embryo and its reduction by nerve growth factor. J. Neurosci. 1, 60-71.
- HAMBURGER, V. and LEVI-MONTALCINI, R. (1949) Proliferation, differentiation and degeneration in the spinal ganglia of the chick embryo under normal and experimental conditions. J. exp. Zool. 111, 457–502.
- HAMBURGER, V. and OPPENHEIM, R. W. (1982) Naturallyoccurring neuronal death in vertebrates. *Neurosci. Comment.* 1, 38-55.
- HARMON, B. V. and ALLAN, D. J. (1988) X-ray-induced cell death by apoptosis in the immature rat cerebellum. Scann. Microsc. 2, 561–568.
- HARRIS, A. J. and McCAIG, C. D. (1984) Motoneuron death and motor unit size during embryonic development of the rat. J. Embryol. exp. Morphol. **76**, 37–49.

- HAYASHI, M. and OSHIMA, K. (1986) Neuropeptides in cerebral cortex of macaque monkey (*Macaca fuscata fuscata*): Regional distribution and ontogeny. *Brain Res.* 364, 360-368.
- HAYASHI, M., YAMASHITA, A., SHIMIZU, K., SOGAWA, K. and FUJII Y, (1990) Somatostatin gene expression in the developing monkey frontal and cerebellar cortices. *Devl Brain Res.* 57, 37–41.
- HEUMANN, D. and LEUBA, G. (1983) Neuronal death in the developing and aging of the cerebral cortex of the mouse. *Neuropathol. appl. Neurobiol.* 9, 297–311.
- HEUMANN, D. and RABINOWITZ, T. (1980) Postnatal development of the dorsal lateral geniculate nucleus in the normal and enucleated albino mouse. *Expl Brain Res.* 38, 75–85.
- HICKS, S. P. and D'AMATO, C. J. (1966) Effects of ionizing radiation on mammalian development. In: *Advances in Teratology*, Vol. 1, pp. 195–250. Ed. D. H. M. WOOLAM. Logos Press: London.
- HICKS, S. P. and D'AMATO, C. J. (1968) Cell migration in the isocortex in the rat. Anat. Rec. 160, 619–634.
- HORVITZ, H. R., ELLIS, H. M. and STERNBERG, P. W. (1982) Programmed cell death in nematode development. *Neuro-sci. Comment.* 1, 56–65.
- HUNTLEY, G. W. and JONES, E. G. (1990) Cajal-Retzius neurons in developing monkey neocortex show immunoreactivity for calcium-binding proteins. J. Neurocytol. 19, 200-212.
- HUMPHREYS, P., ROSEN, G. D., PRESS, D. M., SHERMAN, G. F. and GALABURDA, A. M. (1991) Freezing lesions of the developing rat brain: A model for cerebrocortical microgyria. J. Neuropathol exp. Neurol. 50, 145-160.
- HUNTLEY, G. W., HENDRY, S. H. G., KILLACKEY, H. P., CHALUPA, M. N. and JONES, E. G. (1988) Temporal sequence of neurotransmitter expression by developing neurons of fetal monkey neocortex. *Devl Brain Res.* 43, 69–96.
- IMAMOTO, K. (1981) Origin of microglia: cell transformation from blood monocytes into macrophagic ameboid cells and microglia. In: *Glial and Neuronal Cell Biology*, Eleventh Congress of Anatomy, pp. 126–139. Liss: New York.
- INNOCENTI, G. M. (1981) Growth and reshaping of axons in the establishment of visual callosal connections. *Science* 212, 824–827.
- INNOCENTI, G. M. and CAMINITI, R. (1980) Postnatal shaping of callosal connections from sensory areas. *Expl Brain Res.* 38, 381–394.
- INNOCENTI G. M. and CLARKE, S. (1984) Bilateral transitory projection to visual areas from auditory cortex in kittens. *Devl Brain Res.* 14, 143–148.
- INNOCENTI, G. M., CLARKE, S. and KOPEL, H. (1983b) Transitory macrophages in the white matter of the developing visual cortex. II. Development and relations with axonal pathways. *Devl Brain Res.* 11, 55–66.
- INNOCENTI, G. M., CLARKE, S. and KRAFTSIK, R. (1986) Interchange of callosal and associational projections in the developing visual cortex. J. Neurosci. 6, 1384–1409.
- INNOCENTI, G. M., FIORE, L. and MANINITI, R. (1977) Exuberant projection into the corpus callosum from the visual cortex of newborn cats. *Neurosci. Lett.* **4**, 237-242.
- INNOCENTI, G. M. and FROST, D. O. (1979) Effects of visual experience on the maturation of the efferent system to the corpus callosum. *Nature*, 280, 231–234.
- INNOCENTI, G. M. and FROST, D. O. (1980) The postnatal development of visual callosal connections in the absence of visual experience. *Expl Brain Res.* 39, 365–375.
- INNOCENTI, G. M., FROST, D. O. and ILLES, J. (1985) Maturation of visual callosal connections in visually deprived kittens: a challenging critical period. J. Neurosci. 5, 255-267.
- INNOCENTI, G. M., KOPEL, H. and CLARKE, S. (1983a) Transitory macrophages in the white matter of the developing

visual cortex. I. Light and electron microscopic characteristics and distribution. Devl Brain Res. 11, 39-53.

- INOUYE, M. and KAMEYAMA, Y. (1983) Cell death in the developing rat cerebellum following X-irradiation of 3 to 100 rad: a quantitative study. J. Radiat. Res. 24, 259–269.
- INOUYE, M., TAMARU, M. and KAMEYAMA, Y. (1991) Effects of cycloheximide and actinomycin D on radiation-induced apoptotic cell death in the developing mouse cerebellum. Int. J. Radiat. Biol., in press.
- IVY, G. O., AKERS, R. M. and KILLACKEY, H. P. (1979) Differential distribution of callosal projection neurons in the neonatal and adult rat. *Brain Res.* 173, 532–537.
- IVY, G. O. and KILLACKEY, H. P. (1981) The ontogeny and distribution of callosal projection neurons in the rat parietal cortex. J. comp. Neurol. 195, 367-389.
- JANOWSKI, J. S. and FINLAY, B. L. (1983) Cell degeneration in early development of the forebrain and cerebellum. *Anat. Embryol.* 167, 439-447.
- JEFFERY, G. and PARNAVELAS, J. G. (1987) Early visual deafferentation of the cortex results in an asymmetry of somatostatin-labelled cells. *Expl Brain Res.* 67, 651-655.
- JENSEN, K. F. and ALTMAN, J. (1982) The distribution of late-generated neurons to the callosal projection in the rat: a study with prenatal X-irradiation. J. comp. Neurol. 209, 113-122.
- JONES, E. G. and HENDRY, S. H. C. (1986) Colocalization of GABA and neuropeptides in neocortical neurons. *TINS* 9, 71-76.
- JONES, E, G., HENDRY, S. H. C. and DEFELIPE, J. (1987) GABA-peptide neurons of the primate cerebral cortex: A limited cell class. In: Cerebral Cortex, Vol. 6 Further Aspects of Cortical Function, Including Hippocampus, pp. 237-266. Ed. E. G. JONES and A. PETERS. Plenum: New York.
- JOHNSON, J. I. (1980) Morphological correlates of specialized elaborations in somatic sensory cerebral neocortex. In: Comparative Neurology of the Telencephalon, pp. 423-447. Ed. S. O. E. EBBESSON. Plenum: New York.
- KAUR, C., LING, E. A. and WONG, W. C. (1986) Labelling of amoeboid microglial cells in rats of various ages following an intravenous injection of horseradish peroxidase. *Acta Anat.* 125, 132–137.
- KAUR, C., LING, E. A. and WONG, W. C. (1987) Localisation of thiamine pyrophosphatase in the amoeboid microglial cells in the brain of postnatal rats. J. Anat., Lond. 152, 13–22.
- KAUR, C., LING, E. A. and WONG, W. C. (1990) Lectin labelling of amoeboid microglial cells in the brain of postnatal rats. J. Anat., Lond. 173, 151-160.
- KNAPP, P. E., SKOFF, R. P. and REDSTONE, D. W. (1986) Oligodendroglial cell death in Jimpy mice: an explanation for the myelin deficit. J. Neurosci. 6, 2813–2822.
- KERR, J. F. R. (1971) Shrinkage necrosis: a distinct mode of cellular death. J. Path. 105, 13-20.
- KERR, J. F. R., WYLLIE, A. H. and CURRIE, A. R. (1972) Apoptosis: a basic biological phenomenon with wide ranging implications in tissue kinetics. Br. J. Cancer 26, 239-257.
- KERR, J. F. R., SEARLE, J., HARMON, B. V. and BISHOP, C. J. (1987) Apoptosis. In: *Perspectives on Mammalian Cell Death*, pp. 93–128. Ed. C. S. POTTEN. Oxford Univ. Press: Oxford.
- KILLACKEY, H. P. and BELFORD, G. R. (1979) The formation of afferent patterns in the somatosensory cortex of the neonatal rat. J. comp. Neurol. 183, 285-304.
- KILLACKEY, H. P., KORALEK, K. A., CHIAIA, N. L. and RHOADES, R. W. (1989) Laminar and areal differences in the origin of the subcortical projection neurons of the rat somatosensory cortex. J. comp. Neurol. 282, 428–445.
- KOLLROS, J. J. (1981) Transitions in the nervous system during amphibian metamorphosis. In: *Metamorphosis: A Problem in Developmental Biology*, pp. 445–459. Ed. L. I. GILBERT and E. FRIEDEN. Plenum Press: New York.

- KONDO, S. (1988) Altruistic cell suicide in relation to radiation hormesis. Int. J Radiat. Biol. 53, 95–102.
- KORDOWER, J. H. and RAKIC, P. (1990) Neurogenesis in the magnocellular basal nuclei in the rhesus monkey. J. comp. Neurol. 291, 637–653.
- KOSTOVIC, L. and RAKIC, P. (1980) Cytology and time of origin of interstitial neurons in the white matter in infant and adult human and monkey telencephalon. J. Neurocytol. 9, 219-242.
- KOSTOVIC, I. and RAKIC, P. (1990) Developmental history of the transient subplate zone in the visual and somatosensory cortex of the macaque monkey and human brain. J. comp. Neurol. 297, 441–470.
- LAMANTIA, A. S. and RAKIC, P. (1990) Axon overproduction and elimination in the corpus callosum of the developing Rhesus monkey. J. Neurosci. 10, 2156–2175.
- LAMB, A. H. (1984) Motoneuron death in the embryo. CRC Crit. Rev. clin. Neurosci. 1, 141–179.
- LANCE-JONES, C. (1982) Motoneuron cell death in the developing lumbar spinal cord of mouse. *Devl Brain Res.* 4, 473–479.
- LARROCHE, J. C. (1984) Malformations of the nervous system. In: *Greenfield's Neuropathology*, pp. 385–450. Ed. H. ADAMS, J. A. N. CORSELLIS and A. DUCHEN. Edward Arnold: London.
- LAUDER, J. M., HAN, V. K. M., HENDERSON, P., VERDOORN, T. and TOWLE, A. C. (1986) Prenatal ontogeny of the GABAergic system in the rat brain: an immunohistochemical study. *Neuroscience* 19, 465–493.
- LEVI-MONTALCINI, R. (1966) The nerve growth factor: its mode of action on sensory and sympathetic nerve cells. *Harvey Lect.* **60**, 217–259.
- LEVI-MONTALCINI, R. and ALOE, L. (1981) Mechanism(s) of action of nerve growth factor in intact and lethally injured sympathetic nerve cells in neonatal rodents. In: *Cell Death in Biology and Pathology*, pp. 295–327. Eds. I. D. BOWEN and R. A. LOCKSHIN. Chapman and Hall: London.
- LEVI-MONTALCINI, R. and HAMBURGER, V. (1951) Selective growth stimulating effects of mouse sarcoma on the sensory and sympathetic nervous system of the chick embryo. J. exp. Zool. 116, 321–351.
- LIDOV, H. G. W. and MOLLIVER, M. E. (1982) An immunohistochemical study of serotonin neuron development in the rat: Ascending pathways and terminal fields. *Brain Res. Bull.* 8, 389–430.
- LINDEN, R. and PIÑÓN, L. G. P. (1987) Dual control by targets and afferents of developmental neuronal death in the mammalian central nervous system: A study in the parabigeminal nucleus of the rat. J. comp. Neurol. 266, 141-149.
- LING, E. A. (1976) Some aspects of amoeboid microglia in the corpus callosum and neighbouring regions of neonatal rats. J. Anat., Lond. 121, 29–45.
- LING, E. A. (1977) Light and electron microscopic demonstration of some lysosomal enzymes in the amoeboid microglia in the neonatal rat brain. J. Anat., Lond. 123, 637-648.
- LING, E. A. (1979) Transformation of monocytes into amoeboid microglia and into microglia in the corpus callosum of postnatal rats, as shown by labelling monocytes by carbon particles. J. Anat., Lond. 128, 847-858.
- LING, E. A. (1980) Cytochemical localization of peroxidase in amoeboid cells in the corpus callosum in postnatal rats. *Arch. Histol., Jap.* **43**, 305–310.
- LING, E. A., KAUR, C. and WONG, W. C. (1982) Light and electron microscopic demonstration of non-specific esterase in amoeboid microglial cells in the corpus callosum in postnatal rats: a cytochemical link to monocytes. J. Anat., Lond. 135, 385-394.
- LING, E. A., PENNEY, D. and LEBLOND, C. P. (1980) Use of carbon labelling to demonstrate the role of blood monocytes as precursors of the amoeboid cells present in the

corpus callosum of postnatal rats. J. comp. Neurol. 143, 631-657.

- LING, E. A. and TAN, C. K. (1974) Amoeboid microglial cells in the corpus callosum of neonatal rats. *Arch. Histol. Jap.* **36**, 269–280.
- LUHMANN, H. J., MARTINEZ-MILLÁN, L. and SINGER, W. (1986) Development of horizontal intrinsic connections in cat striate cortex. *Expl Brain Res.* 63, 443–448.
- LUND, R. D., CHANG. F. L. F. and LAND, P. W. (1984) The development of callosal projections in normal and oneeyed rats. *Devl Brain Res.* 14, 139-142.
- LUND, R. D., CUNNINGHAM, T. J. and LUND, J. S. (1973) Modified optic projections after unilateral eye removal in young rats. *Brain Behav. Evol.* **8**, 51-72.
- LUND, R. D. and MUSTARI, M. J. (1977) Development of the geniculocortical pathways in rats. J. comp. Neurol. 173, 289-306.
- LUSKIN, M. B. and SHATZ, C. J. (1985) Studies of the earliest generated cells of the cat's visual cortex: cogeneration of subplate and marginal zones. J. Neurosci. 5, 1062–1065.
- MARÍN-PADILLA, M. (1970) Prenatal and early postnatal ontogenesis of the human motor cortex: a Golgi study. I.—The prenatal sequential development of cortical layers. *Brain Res.* 23, 167–183.
- MARIN-PADILLA, M. (1971) Early prenatal ontogenesis of the cerebral cortex (neocortex) of the *Felis domestica*. A Golgi study. I.—The primordial neocortical organization. Z. Anat. EntwGesch. 134, 117–145.
- MARÍN-PADILLA, M. (1978) Dual origin of the mammalian neocortex and evolution of the cortical plate. *Anat. Embryol.* **152**, 109–126.
- MARÍN-PADILLA, M. (1984) Neurons of layer I. A developmental analysis. In: Cerebral Cortex Vol. 1, Cellular Components of the Cerebral Cortex, pp. 447–478. Plenum: New York.
- MARÍN-PADILLA, M. and MARÍN-PADILLA, M. T. (1982) Origin, prenatal development and structural organization of layer I of the human cerebral (motor) cortex: A Golgi study. Anat. Embryol. 164, 161–206.
- MARRERO, A., MARTIN, J. M., PÉREZ, M. A. and TRUJILLO, C. M. (1987) Cell death in the lizard cerebellar anlage at early embryonic stages. J. Submicrosc. Cytol. 19, 479-482.
- MARTIN, D. P., SCHMIDT, R. E., DISTEFANO, P. S., LOWRY, O. H., CARTER, J. G. and JOHNSON, E. M. (1988) Inhibitors of protein synthesis and RNA synthesis prevent neuronal death caused by nerve growth factor deprivation. J. Cell Biol. 106, 829–844.
- MATSUMOTO, Y. and IKUTA, F. (1985) Appearance and distribution of fetal brain macrophages in mice. Immunohistochemical study with a monoclonal antibody. *Cell Tiss. Res.* 239, 271–278.
- MCCONKEY, D. J., ORRENIUS, S. and JONDAL, M. (1990) Cellular signaling in programmed cell death (apoptosis). *Immunol. Today* 11, 120–121.
- MCCONNELL, S. K., GHOSH, A. and SHATZ, C. J. (1989) Subplate neurons pioneer the first axon pathways from the cerebral cortex. *Science* 245, 978–982.
- MCDONALD, J. K., PARNAVELAS, J. G., KARAMANLIDIS, A. N., BRECHA, N. and KOENIG, J. I. (1982) The morphology and distribution of peptide-containing neurons in the adult and developing visual cortex of the rat. I. Somatostatin. J. Neurocytol. 11, 809–824.
- MCGREGOR, G. P., WOODHAMS, P. L., O'SHAUGHNESSY, D. J., GHATEI, M. A., POLAK, J. M. and BLOOM, S. R. (1982) Developmental changes in bombesin, substance P, somatostatin, and vasoactive intestinal polypeptide in the rat brain. *Neurosci. Lett.* 28, 21–27.
- MILLER, M. V. and VOGT, B. A. (1984) The postnatal growth of the callosal connections of primary and secondary visual cortex in the rat. *Devl Brain Res.* 14, 304–309.
- MIYAKE, T., TSUCHIHASHI, Y., KITAMURA, T. and FUJITA, S. (1984) Immunohistochemical studies of blood monocytes

infiltrating into the neonatal rat brain. Acta Neuropath., Berlin 62, 291-297.

- MOLLIVER, M. and VAN DER LOOS, H. (1970) The ontogenesis of cortical circuitry: The spatial distribution of synapses on somesthesic cortex of newborn dog. *Ergebn. Anat. EntwGesch.* 42, 1–43.
- MURABE, Y. and SANO, Y. (1982) Morphological studies on neuroglia. VI. Postnatal development of microglial cells. *Cell Tiss. Res.* 225, 469–485.
- MURABE, Y. and SANO, Y. (1983) Morphological studies on neuroglia. VII. Distribution of brain macrophages in brains of neonatal and adult rats, as determined by means of immunohistochemistry. *Cell Tiss. Res.* 229, 89–95.
- NAEGELE, J. R., BARNSTABLE, C. J. and WAHLE, P. R. (1991) Expression of a unique 56-kDa polypeptide by neurons in the subplate zone of the developing cerebral cortex. *Proc. natn Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 88, 330–334.
- NORDEEN, E. J., NORDEEN, K. W., SENGELAUB, D. R. and ARNOLD, A. R. (1985) Androgens prevent normally occurring cell death in a sexually dimorphic spinal nucleus. *Science* 229, 671–673.
- NORDEEN, E. J., NORDEEN, K. W. and ARNOLD, A. P. (1987) Sexual differentiation of androgen accumulation within the zebrafinch brain through selective cell loss and addition. J. comp. Neurol. 259, 393–399.
- NURCOMBE, V. MCGRATH, P. A. and BENNETT, M. R. (1981) Postnatal death of motor neurons during the development of the brachial spinal cord of the rat. *Neurosci. Lett.* 27, 249-254.
- OLAVARRIA, J. and VAN SLUYTERS, R. C. (1984) Callosal connections of the posterior neocortex in normal-eyed, congenitally anophthalmic, and neonatally enucleated mice. J. comp. Neurol. 230, 249-268.
- OLAVARRIA, J. and VAN SLUYTERS, R. C. (1985) Organization and postnatal development of callosal connections in the visual cortex of the rat. J. comp. Neurol. 239, 1–26.
- OLAVARRIA, J., BRAVO, H. and RUIZ, G. (1988) The pattern of callosal connections in posterior neocortex of congenitally anophthalmic rats. *Anat. Embryol.* **178**, 155–159.
- O'LEARY, D. D. M. and STANFIELD, B. B. (1985) Occipital cortical neurons with transient pyramidal tract axons extend and maintain collaterals to subcortical but not intracortical targets. *Brain Res.* 336, 326–333.
- O'LEARY, D. D. M. and STANFIELD, B. B. (1986) A transient pyramidal tract projection from the visual cortex in the hamster and its removal by selective collateral elimination. *Devl Brain Res.* 27, 87–99.
- O'LEARY, D. D. N., STANFIELD, B. B. and COWAN, W. M. (1981) Evidence that the early restriction of the cells of origin of the callosal projection is due to elimination of axonal collaterals rather than to the death of neurons. *Devl Brain Res.* 1, 607–617.
- O'LEARY, D. D. M. and TERASHIMA, T. (1988) Cortical axons branch to multiple subcortical targets by interstitial axon budding: implications for target recognition and "waiting periods". *Neuron* **1**, 901–910.
- OPPENHEIM, R. W. (1981) Neonatal cell death and some related progressive phenomena during neurogenesis: a selective historical review and progress report. In: *Studies in Developmental Neurobiology*, pp. 74–113. Ed. W. M. COWAN. Oxford Univ. Press: New York.
- OPPENHEIM, R. W. (1985) Naturally occurring cell death during normal development. TINS 8, 487–493.
- OPPENHEIM, R. W. (1989) The neurotrophic theory and naturally occurring motorneuron death. TINS 12, 252-255.
- OPPENHEIM, R. W. (1991) Cell death during development of the nervous system. A. Rev. Neurosci. 14, 453-501.
- OPPENHEIM, R. W., PREVETTE, D., TYTELL, M. and HOMMA, S. (1990) Naturally occurring and induced neuronal death in the chick embryo requires protein and RNA synthesis: Evidence for the role of cell death genes. *Devl Biol.* 138, 104–113.

- PALLAS, S. L., GILMOUR, S. M. and FINLAY, B. L. (1988) Control of cell number in the developing neocortex. I. Effects of early tectal ablation. *Devl Brain Res.* 43, 1–11.
- PANNESE, E. (1976) An electron microscopic study of cell degeneration in chick embryo spinal ganglia. *Neuropath.* appl. Neurobiol. 2, 247–267.
- PANNETON, W. M. and TOLBERT, D. L. (1984) The collateral origin of a transient cerebrocerebellar pathway in kittens. A study using fluorescent double-labeling techniques. *Devl Brain Res.* 14, 247–254.
- PAPADOPOULOS, G. C., ANTONOPOULOS, J. and PARNAVELAS, J. G. (1988) Effects of visual deprivation on the distribution of somatostatin labelled neurons in the rat visual cortex. Abstracts of the 11th Annual Meeting of ENA. *Eur. J. Neurosci. (Suppl.)*, p. 271.
- PARNAVELAS, J. G. and CAVANAGH, M. E. (1988) Transient expression of neurotransmitters in the developing neocortex. TINS 11, 92-93.
- PARNAVELAS, J. G. and EDMUNDS, S. M. (1983) Further evidence that Retzius-Cajal cells transform to nonpyramidal neurons in the developing rat visual cortex. J. Neurocytol. 12, 863–871.
- PARNAVELAS, J. G., JEFFERY, G., COPE, J. and DAVIES, S. W. (1990) Early lesion of mysticial vibrissae in rats results in an increase of somatostatin-labelled cells in the somatosensory cortex. *Expl Brain Res.* 82, 658–662.
- PEARLMAN, A. L. (1985) The visual cortex of the normal mouse and the reeler mutant. In: *Cerebral Cortex. Vol. 3 Visual Cortex*, pp. 1–18. Ed. A. PETERS and E. G. JONES. Plenum: New York.
- PENFOLD, P. L. and PROVIS, J. M. (1986) Cell death in the development of the human retina: phagocytosis of pyknotic and apoptotic bodies by retinal cells. *Graefes Arch. Ophthal.* 224, 549–553.
- PERRY, V. H. and GORDON, S. (1988) Macrophages and microglia in the nervous system. TINS 11, 273-277.
- PERRY, V. H., HENDERSON, Z. and LINDEN, R. (1983) Postnatal changes in retinal ganglion cell and axon populations in the pigmented rat. J. comp. Neurol. 219, 356-368.
- PILAR, G. and LANDMESSER, L. (1976) Ultrastructural differences during embryonic cell death in normal and peripherally deprived cilliary ganglia. J. Cell Biol. 68, 339-356.
- PITTMAN, T. and TOLBERT, D. L. (1988) Organization of transient projections from the primary somatosensory cortex to the cerebellar nuclei in kittens. *Anat. Embryol.* 178, 441–447.
- PROVIS, J. M. and PENFOLD, P. L. (1988) Cell death and elimination of retinal axons during development. Prog. Neurobiol. 31, 331–347.
- PURVES, D. (1980) Neuronal competion. Nature 287, 585–586.
- PURVES, D. (1988) Body and Brain. A trophic theory of Neural Connections. Cambridge. MA: Harvard Univ. Press.
- RAKIC, P. (1977) Prenatal development of the visual system in the rhesus monkey. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B* 278, 245–260.
- RAKIC, P. (1988) Specification of cerebral cortical areas. Science 241, 170–176.
- RAABE, J. I., WINDREM, M. S. and FINLAY, B. L. (1986) Control of cell number in the developing visual system. III. Effects of visual cortex ablation. *Devl Brain Res.* 22, 11-22.
- RAEDLER, E. and RAEDLER, A. (1978) Autoradiographic study of early neurogenesis in rat neocortex. Anat. Embryol. 154, 267–284.
- RAMIREZ, L. F. and KALIL, K. (1985) Critical stages for growth in the developing of cortical neurons. J. comp. Neurol. 237, 506-518.
- RAMÓN Y CAJAL-AGUERAS, S. P., CONTAMINA, P., PARRA, P. and MARTÍNEZ-MILLÁN L. (1986) The distribution of VIPimmunoreactive neurons in the visual cortex of adult

rabbits and during postnatal development. Brain Res. 370, 333-337.

- REH, T. and KALIL, K. (1982) Development of the pyramidal tract in the hamster. II. An electron microscopic study. J. comp. Neurol. 205, 77-88.
- RICH, K. M. and HOLLOWELL, J. P. (1990) Flunarizine protects neurons from death after axotomy or NGF deprivation. Science 248, 1419–1421.
- RICHMAN, D. P., STEWART, R. M. and CAVINESS, V. S. (1974) Cerebral microgyria in a 27-week fetus: an architectonic and topographic analysis. J. Neuropath. exp. Neurol. 33, 374–384.
- RICKMAN, M., CHRONWALL, B. M. and WOLFF, J. R. (1977) On the development of non-pyramidal neurons and axons outside the cortical plate: the early marginal zone as a pallial anlage. *Anat. Embryol.* **151**, 285–307.
- RIO HORTEGA, P. (1919) El tercer elemento de los centros, nerviosos. Bol. Soc. Español. Biol. 9, 69–120.
- RIO HORTEGA, P. (1920) La microglia y su transformación en células en bastoncito y en células granulo-adiposas. Trab. Lab. Invest. Biol. Univ. Madrid 28, 37-82.
- RIO HORTEGA, P. (1921) El tercer elemento de los centros neviosos. Histogenesis y desarrollo normal; migración y distribución regional de la microglia. Archs Neurobiol. 2, 212-255.
- ROCKEL, A. J., HIORNS, R. W. and POWELL, T. P. S. (1980) Basic uniformity in the structure of the cerebral cortex. *Brain* 103, 221–243.
- SCHEICHEL, J. U. and MERKER, H. J. (1973) The morphology of various types of cell death in prenatal tissues. *Teratol*ogy 7, 253–266.
- SCOTT, S. A. and DAVIES, A. M. (1990) Inhibition of protein synthesis prevents cell death in sensory and parasympathetic neurons deprived of neurotrophic factor *in vitro*. J. Neurobiol. 21, 630–638.
- SEKITANI, M., SHIOSAKA, S., KURIYAMA, H., LEE, Y., IKEDA, M. and TOHYAMA, M. (1990) Transient expression of somatostatin mRNA in the auditory system of neonatal rat. *Molec. Brain Res.* 7, 177–181.
- SENGELAUB, D. and ARNOLD, A. (1989) Hormonal control of neuron number in sexually dimorphic spinal nuclei of the rat. I. Testosterone-regulated death in the dorsolateral nucleus. J. comp. Neurol. 280, 622–629.
- SENGELAUB, D. R., DOLAN, R. P. and FINLAY, B. L. (1986) Cell generation, death, and retinal growth in the development of the hamster retinal ganglion cell layer. J. comp. Neurol. 246, 527-543.
- SENGELAUB, D. R. and FINLAY, B. L. (1982) Cell death in the mammalian visual system during normal development. I. Retinal ganglion cells. J. comp. Neurol. 204, 311-317.
- SENGELAUB, D. R., JACOBS, L. F. and FINLAY, B. L. (1985) Regional differences in normally occurring cell death in the developing hamster lateral geniculate nuclei. *Neurosci. Lett.* 55, 103-108.
- SHATZ, C. J., CHUN, J. J. M. and LUSKIN, M. B. (1988) The role of the subplate in the development of the mammalian telencephalon. In: *Cerebral Cortex Vol.* 7, *Development* and Maturation of the Cerebral Cortex, pp. 35–58. Ed. A. PETERS and E. G. JONES. Plenum: New York.
- SHIMANSKY, YU. P. (1991) Sensory information processing in a neural system for movement control. In: Neurocomputers and Attention, Vol. II, Connectionism and Neurocomputers, pp. 647–656. Ed. A. V. HOLDEN and V. I. KRYUKOV. Manchester University Press: Manchester.
- SMART, I. H. M. and MCSHERRY, G. M. (1986a) Gyrus formation in the cerebral cortex in the ferret. I. Description of the external changes. J. Anat., Lond. 146, 141-152.
- SMART, I. H. M. and MCSHERRY, G. M. (1986b) Gyrus formation in the cerebral cortex in the ferret. II. Description of the internal histological changes. J. Anat., Lond. 147, 27-43.

- SMART, I. H. and SMART, M. (1982) Growth patterns in the lateral wall of the mouse telencephalon. I. Autoradiographic studies of the histogenesis of the isocortex and adjacent areas. J. Anat., Lond. 134, 273-298.
- SOHAL, G. S. and WEIDMAN, T. (1978) Ultrastructural sequence of embryonic cell death in normal and peripherally deprived trochlear nucleus. *Expl Neurol.* 61, 53-64.
- SORIANO, E. and DEL RIO, J. A. (1991) Simultaneous immunocytochemical visualization of bromodeoxyuridine and neural tissue antigens. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 39, 255-263.
- SPRINGER, T. A. (1990) Adhesion receptors in the immune system. Nature, Lond. 346, 425–428.
- SCHREYER, D. J. and JONES E. H. G. (1988) Topographic sequence of outgrowth of corticospinal axons in the rat: a study using retrograde axonal labeling with Fast blue. *Devl Brain Res.* **38**, 89–101.
- SCHREYER, D. J. and JONES, E. G. (1988b) Axon elimination in the developing corticospinal tract of the rat. *Devl Brain Res.* 38, 103–119.
- STANFIELD, B. B. and O'LEARY D. D. M. (1985) The transient corticospinal projection from the occipital cortex during the postnatal development of the rat. J. comp. Neurol. 238, 236-248.
- STANFIELD, B. B., O'LEARY, D. D. M. and FRICKS, C. (1982) Selective collateral elimination in early postnatal development restricts cortical distribution of rat pyramidal tract neurons. *Nature*, 298, 371–373.
- THONG, I. G. and DREHER, B. (1986) The development of the corticotectal pathway in the albino rat. *Devl Brain Res.* 25, 227–238.
- THONG, I. G. and DREHER, B. (1987) The development of the corticotectal pathway in the albino rat: transient projections from the visual and motor cortices. *Neurosci. Lett.* 80, 275-282.
- TOLBERT, D. L. and PANNETON, W. M. (1984) The transience of cerebrocerebellar projections is due to selective elimination of axon collaterals and not to neuronal death. *Devl Brain Res.* 16, 301–306.
- TRUJILLO, C. M., YANES, C. M., MARRERO, A., PEREZ, M. A. and MARTÍN, J. M. (1987) Cell death in the embryonic brain of *Gallota galloti* (reptilia; Lacertidae): a structural and ultrastructural study. J. Anat., Lond. 150, 11–21.
- TRUMAN, J. W. and SCHWARTZ, L. M. (1982) Programmed cell death in the nervous system of a moth. *TINS* 4, 274–280.
- TRUMAN, J. W. and SCHWARTZ, L. M. (1984) Steroid regulation of neuronal death in the moth nervous system. J. Neurosci. 4, 274–280.
- VALENTINO, K. L. and JONES, E. G. (1981) Morphological and immunocytochemical identification of macrophages in the developing corpus callosum. *Anat. Embryol.* 163, 157–172.
- VALVERDE, F. and FACAL-VALVERDE, M. V. (1987) Transitory populations of cells in the temporal cortex of kittens. *Devl Brain Res.* 32, 283-288.
- VALVERDE, F. and FACAL-VALVERDE, M. V. (1988) Postnatal development of interstitial (subplate) cells in the white matter of the temporal cortex of kittens. A correlated Golgi and electron microscopic study. J. comp. Neurol. 269, 168-192.
- VALVERDE, F., FACAL-VALVERDE, M. V., SANTACANA, M. and HEREDIA, M. (1989) Development and differentiation of early generated cells of sublayer VIb in the somatosensory cortex of the rat: A correlated Golgi and autoradiographic study. J. comp. Neurol. 290, 118-140.
- VALVERDE, F., LÓPEZ-MASCARAQUE, L. and DE CARLOS, J. A. (1990) Distribution and morphology of Alz-50-immunoreactive cells in the developing visual cortex of kittens. J. Neurocytol. 19, 662–671.
- VAN EDEN, C. G., MRZLJAK, L., VOORN, P. and UYLINGS, H. B. M. (1989) Prenatal development of GABAergic

neurons in the neocortex of the rat. J. comp. Neurol. 289, 213-227.

- WAHLE, P. and MEYER, G. (1987) Morphology and quantitative changes of transient NPY-ir neuronal populations during early postnatal development of the cat visual cortex. J. comp. Neurol. 261, 165-192.
- WARTON, S. S. and JONES, D. J. (1984) Postnatal development of cat superior colliculus. I. Presumptive neurons, immature neurons and degenerating cells in the intermediate and deep layers. *Devl Brain Res.* 14, 101–123.
- WELKER, W. (1990) Why does cerebral cortex fissure and fold. A review of determinants of gyri and sulci. In: Cerebral Cortex Vol. 8B, Comparative Structure and Evolution of Cerebral Cortex, Part II, pp. 3–136. Ed. E. G. JONES and A. PETERS. Plenum: New York.
- WELKER, W. I. and CAMPOS, G. B. (1963) Physiological significance of sulci in somatic sensory cortex of mammals of the family Procyonidae. J. comp. Neurol. 120, 19–36.
- WELKER, W. I. and JOHNSON, J. I. (1965) Correlation between nuclear morphology and somatotopic organization in ventro basal complex of the racoon's thalamus. J. Anat., Lond. 99, 761–790.
- WILLIAMS, R. S., FERRANTE, R. J. and CAVINESS, V. S. (1976) The cellular pathology of microgyria. Acta Neuropath., Berlin 36, 269–283.
- WINDREM, M. S. and FINLAY, B. L. (1985) Early thalamic lesions increase neonatal cell death and alter adult cytoarchitecture in the neocortex. Soc. Neurosci. Abstr. 11, 991.
- WINDREM, M. S., JAN DE BEUR, S. M. and FINLAY, B. L. (1986) Effects of early callosal and thalamic lesions on differentiation of cortical cytoarchitecture. *Soc. Neurosci. Abstr.* **12**, 867.
- WINDREM, M. S., JAN DE BEUR, S. and FINLAY, B. L. (1988) Control of cell number in the developing neocortex. II. Effects of corpus callosum section. *Devl Brain Res.* 43, 13–22.
- WISE, S. P., HENDRY, S. H. C. and JONES, E. G. (1977) Prenatal development of sensorimotor cortical projections in cats. *Brain Res.* 138, 538-544.

- WISE, S. P. and JONES, E. G. (1976) The organization and postnatal development of the commissural projection of the rat somatic sensory cortex. J. comp. Neurol. 168, 313-344.
- WISE, S. P. and JONES, E. G. (1978) Developmental studies of thalamocortical and commissural connections in the rat somatic sensory cortex. J. comp. Neurol. 175, 187–208.
- WRIGHT, L. L. and SMOLEN, A. J. (1983) Neonatal testosterone treatment increases neuron and synapse numbers in male rat superior cervical ganglion. *Devl Brain Res.* 8, 145–153.
- WRIGHT, L. L. and SMOLEN, A. J. (1987) The role of neuron death in the development of the gender difference in the number of neurons in the rat superior cervical ganglion. *Int. J. dev. Neurosci.* 5, 305-311.
- WYLLIE, A. H. (1981) Cell death: a new classification separating apoptosis from necrosis. In: Cell Death in Pathology and Biology, pp. 9–34. Ed. I. D. BOWEN and R. A. LOCKSHIN. Chapman and Hall: New York.
- WYLLIE, A. H. (1987) Apoptosis: cell death under homeostatic control. Archs Toxic. 11 (Suppl.) (Mechanisms and Models in Toxicology), 3-11.
- WYLLIE, A. H., KERR, J. F. R. and CURRIE, A. R. (1980) Cell death: the significance of apoptosis. *Int. Rev. Cytol.* 68, 251–306.
- WYLLIE, A. H., MORRIS, R. G., SMITH, A. L. and DUNLOP, D. (1984) Chromatin cleavage in apoptosis: association with condensed chromatin morphology and dependence on macromolecular synthesis. J. Path. 142, 67-78.
- YAMASHITA, A., HAYASHI, M., SHIMIZU, K. and OSHIMA, K. (1989) Ontogeny of somatostatin in cerebral cortex of macaque monkey: an immunohistochemical study. *Devl Brain Res.* 45, 103–111.
- YAMASHITA, A., SHIMIZU, K. and HAYASHI, M. (1990) Ontogeny of substance P-immunoreactive structures in the primate cerebral neocortex. *Devl Brain Res.* 57, 197–207.
- ZILLES, K. (1985) The Cortex of the Rat. A Sterotaxic Atlas. Springer: Berlin.